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® 7 August 2007 (Announcement of Half Year Resuilts for the period ended 30 June 2007 of Subsidiary
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Board Change)
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Announcement submitted on behalf | CITY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED
of

Announcement is submitted with | CITY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED

respect to *

Announcement is submitted by * Enid Ling Peek Fong
Designation * Company Secretary
Date & Time of Broadcast 06-Aug-2007 17:08:38
Announcement No. 00045

>> Announcement Details

The detalls of the announcement start here ...

Announcement Title * | Announcement of Half Year Results for the period ended 30 June 2007 of Subsidiary Company,
CDL Investments New Zealand Limited

Description We attach herewlth the half year resuits announcement for the period ended 30 June 2007
issued by CDL Investments New Zealand Limited on & August 2007, for your information.

Attachments: & CDLI-Results.pdf
& CDLI-Notes_to_Financial_Statements.pdf
& CDLI-ChairmansReview.pdf
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Full and Half Year Preliminary Announcements and Half Year Results

CDL INVESTMENTS NEW ZEALAND LIMITED

Results for announcement to the market

Reporting Period.. 6 months to 30 June 2007
Previous Reporting Period 6 months to 30 June 2006
‘Amount (000s) ° | Percé‘n’tége change
NZ$ 19,359 Up 68.2%
NZ$ 7,566 | . Up 99.3%
NZ$ 7,566 Up 98.3%
Not Applicable Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable

Please refer to the attached Chairman's Review.




Condensed Cansolidated Interim Income Statement

FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 | Unaudited ‘ Audited |  Unaudited
' 6months 12 months 6 months
IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS NOTE . to30/06/2007 | to 31/12/2006 to 30/06/2006 !
1 1 : ‘
Revenue ) 19,359 | 31,061 | 11,651
Cost of sales ! (7,816)] (12,891), (5,186)i
Gross profit , 11,543 | 18,170 6,465 |
! I
Other operating income 44 80 37
Finance income 924 465 256
Administrative expenses (87) (157" (84)
Other operating expenses I ( 1.146)§ (2,294) {935)
Profit before income tax ; 11,278 f 16,264 5,738
) 1
income tax expense 2 (3,712)} (5.399); (1,842),
Profit for the period 7,566 10,865 [ 3,797 .
t 1
i
DETAILS OF SPECIFIC RECEIPTS/OUTLAYS, ! . ‘
INCOME/EXPENSES | ;
Audit fees (30) (53) | (27)
Depreciation {2) 9| (3)
Interest income 924 465 256
Cperating lease and rental payments (29): (58) (30)
X r |
' '
Basic earnings per share (cents) 3 d.41¢c 5.01ci 1.75¢,
Diluted earnings per share {cents}) 3 341¢c 5.0101 1.75¢]
CDL INVESTMENTS NEW ZEALAND LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 Unaudited Audited Unaudited
6 months 12 months 6 months
IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS to 30/06/2007 to 31/12/2006 to 30/06/2006
Profit for the period 7.566 10,865 3,787
Total recognised Income and expense for the period 7,566 10,865 3,797
Atiributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 7,566 10,865 3,797

The attached notes on pages N1 to N4 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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Condensed Consolidated Interim Reconciliation of Equity

Share Retained Total
[N THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS Capital Eamings Equity
Balance at 1 January 2006 27,783 36,782 64,565
Total Recognised Income and Expense - 3,797 3,797
Sr.1ares Issued under Dividend Reinvaestment Plan 3,463 - 3,463
Dividends to Shareholders - (4.212) {4.212)
Balance at 30 June 2006 31,246 36,367 67,613
Balance at 1 January 2006 27,783 36,782 64,565
Total Recognised Income and Expense - 10,865 10,865
Shares Issued under Dividend Reinvestment Plan 3,463 - 3,463
Dividends to Shareholders - {4,212) (4.212)
Balance at 31 December 2006 31,246 43,435 74,681
Balance at 1 January 2007 31,246 43,435 74,681
Total Recognised Income and Expanse - 7,566 7.566
Shares Issued under Dividend Reinvestment Plan 4,700 - 4700
Dividends to Shareholders - (5,035) (5,035)
Balance at 30 June 2007 35,946 45,966 81,912

The attached notes on pages N1 to N4 form part of, and should be read In conjunction with these financial statements,
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Condensed Consolidated Interim Balance Sheet

AS AT 30 JUNE 2007 Unaudited Audited Unaudited |
6 months 12 months 6 months |
IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS to 30/06/2007 to 31/12/2006 to 30/06/2006 I
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY ; ‘
Issued capital 35,946 31,246 31,246 |
Retained earnings 45,966 43,435 36,367 E
Total Equity 81,912 74,681 | 67,613 |
Represented by: % ' '
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Plant, furniture and equipment 19 E 19 ¢ 25,
Development property 51,988 | 41362 30,096 .
Investments 8 - : - E
Total Non Current Assets 52,015 41,381 | 39,121
CURRENT ASSETS ﬁ
Development property 12,389 17,948 16,582 |
Income tax receivable - 219 608
Trade and other receivables 844 1,026 1,381
Cash and cash equivalents 18,833 15,639 11,381 ¢
Total Current Assets 32,066 | 34,832 | 29,952 |
Total Assets 84,081 76,213 69,073
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liahilities 411 479 453
Total Non Current Liabilities 411 479 453 |
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 258 1,031 973
Employee entitlements 27 22 34
Income tax payable 1,473 - -
Total Current Llabilitias 1,758 1,053 1,007 |
Total Liabilities 2,169 1,532 1,480
Nat Assets 81,912 74,681 67,613

The attached notes on pages N1 to N4 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with these financlal statements.
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Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Cash Flows

FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 E Unaudited Unaudited
; 6 months | 6 months
IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS { to30/06/2007 | to 30/06/2006
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ! !
Cash was provided from: ] i
Recsipts from customers 3 19,686 i 11,608
Interest received ' 8231 236
Cash was applied to:
Payments to suppliers and employees (14,882} (5,483)
Income tax paid ; (2,088}, (2,361)
Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities i 3,539 | 4,000
! i
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ] {
Cash was applied to: i t
Purchase of fixed assets ! (2)§ {3)
Purchase of investment ; (8)1 -
Net Cash Qutflow From Investing Activities (10) {3)
i
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES i
Cash was provided from: |
Reinvestment of dividends into shares issuad 4,700 3,463
Cash was applied to: !
Dividends paid (5,035} (4,212)
Nat Cash Outflow from Financing Activities {335) (749)
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,184 3,248
Add Opening Cash and Cash Equivalents Brought Forward 15,639 8,133
Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents 18,833 11,381
|
FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 Unaudited Unaudited
6 months 6 months
IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS to 30/06/2007 to 30/06/2006
RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit after Taxation 7.566 3,797
Adjusted for non cash items: ’
Depreciatior{ 2 3
Income tax expenses 3,712 1,942
Adjustments for movements In working capital: ;
{Increase)/Decrease in Receivables ; 182 l (100}
(Increase)/Decrease in Development Properties (5,087)' 1,145
Increase/(Decrease) in Payables ‘ (768). (426)
Cash generated from Oparations f 5,627 | 6,361
Income Tax Paid (2,088) (2,361}
Cash Inflows from Operating Activities 3,539 4,000

The attached notes on pages N1 to N4 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with these financlal statements.



CDL Investments New Zealand Limited and its Subsidiary

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
For the half year ended 30 June 2007 (unaudited)

1. Significant Accounting Policies
Reporting Entity

CDL Investments New Zealand Limited {the “Company") is a company domiciled in New Zealand, registered
under the Companies Act 1893 and listed on the New Zealand Stock Exchange. The Company is an issuer in
terms of the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

The condensed consolidated interim financlal staterments of CDL Investments New Zealand Limited as at and for
the half year ended 30 June 2007 comprise the Company and its subsidiary (together referred to as the "Group®}.

(@)

(®)

(c}

(@)

Page N 1

Statement of compliance

The condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 1883, Financial Reporting Act 1993 and New Zealand Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice ("NZ GAAP"). They comply with New Zealand equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards {"NZ {FRS"), as appropriate for profit-oriented entities. Compliance with NZ
IFRS ensures that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS",

The candensed consolidated interim financial statements do not include all of the information required for
full annual financial statements.

The condensed consolidated interim financial statements were authorised for issuance on 6 August 2007,

Basts of preparation

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand Dollars (§), which is the Company's functional
currency. All financial information presented in New Zealand dollars has been rounded to the nearest
thousand.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the fower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with NZ IFRS requires management to make
Judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of company policies and reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised and in any future period affected.

Certain comparative figures have been restated, where appropriate, to conform with the format for the
current period.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by Group entities, and to all periods
presented in these condensed consalidated interim financial statements.

Basls of consolidation
{) Subsldiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power,
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entily so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or
convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
condensed consolidated interim financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases.

(i Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from
intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the condensed consolidated interim financial
statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and jointly controlled entities
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised fosses are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a [iability in the period in which they are declared,




CDL Investments New Zealand Limited and its Subsidiary
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
For the half year ended 30 June 2007 (unaudited)

Significa u 0 - continued

{e)  Plant, fumiture & equipment
Initial recording

items of plant, furniture and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost of
purchased plant, furniture and equipment is the value of the consideration given to acquire the assets and
the value of other directly attributable costs, which have been incumred in bringing the assets to the location
and condition necessary for their intended service. Where parts of an item of plant, fumiture and equipment
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of plant, furniture and equipment.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant, furniture and equipment 3-10years

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of plant, furniture and equipment are determined as
the difference between the estimated net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in the profit and loss account on the date of retirement or disposal.

(] Development properties

Property held for future development is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Costincludes the
cost of acquisition, development, and holding costs such as interest and rates. interest and other holding
costs incurred after completion of development are expensed as incurred. All holding costs are written off
through the income statement in the period incurred with the exception of interest holding costs which are
capitalised during the pariod when active development is taking place. Revenue and profit are not
recognised on development properties until the legal title passes to the buyer when the full settlement of the
purchase consideration of the properties occurs.

(o) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses.,

(h}  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management are included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

() Impaiment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets other than deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance
sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the
asset's recoverable emount is estimated (see accounting policy i (i)).

An impairment foss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

() Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. The
recoverable amount of the Group's receivables with shart duration is not discounted.

(i)} Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent
increase In recoverable amount can be related abjectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognisad.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

An tmpairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, If no
impairment loss had been recognised.

Page N 2




CDL Investments New Zealand Limited and its Subsidiary

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
For the half year ended 30 June 2007 (unaudited)

S cant accou oficles - continued

0

(k)

®

(m)

(n)

Page N 3

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at cost.

Expenses
(i) Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on 3 straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement
as an integral part of the total lease expense.

(i) Finance expenses and income

Finance expenses comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest
rate method, interest receivable an funds invested and dividend income that are recognised in profit
ar loss.

Finance income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is
established.

Interest attributable to funds used to finance the acquisition, development or construction of propeny
held for development or sale is capitalised gross of tax relief and added to the cost of the property
during the period when active development takes place.

income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in
equity, in which case it is recognised In equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years,

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method of providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. The temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries are not
provided for to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future, The amount of
deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance shest date.

A deferred tax asset Is recognised only to the extent that It is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as
the [iability to pay the related dividend.

Revenue
Revenue represents amounts derived from:

* Income from land and property sales: recognised on the transfer of the related significant risk and
rewards of ownership.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or
services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of
other segments.

Geographic sagments
The Group operates in the following main geographic segment
b New Zeatand.




CDL Investments New Zealand Limited and its Subsidiary
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
For the half year ended 30 June 2007 (unaudited)

Significant accounti s - continued

(n)  Segment reporting (continued)

Business segments
The Group operates in the following main business segment:
. Property operations, comprising the development and sale of land and development property.

(o) Investments in subsidiaries

Investmentin subsidiaries are stated at cost less any provision for permanent diminution in value, which
is recorded through the income statement.

2. Income Taxes

Income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, calculated as the estimated average
annual effective income tax rate applied to the pre-tax income of the interim period.

The current tax expense for the six month periods ended 30 June 2007 and 2006 were calculated based on the
estimated average annual effective income tax rate,

The deferred tax expense for the six month periods ended 30 June 2007 and 2006 were calculated based an the
estimated average annual effective income tax rate.

The estimated annual effective income tax rate calculated on this basis is 32,9% (30 June 2006: 33.8%).
3. Ea Sha

The calculation of basic eamings per share at 30 June 2007 of 3.41 cents (30 June 20086: 1,75 cents) was based
on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of $7,566,000 (2006: $3,797,000); and weighted average
number of shares of 221,848,072 (2006: 216,836,443) on issue in the period. The calculation of diluted earnings
per share at 30 June 2007 of 3.41 cents (30 June 2006: 1.75 cents) was based on a weighted average number of
shares of 221,849,072 (2006: 216,836,443) on issue in the period adjusted for the exercise of dilutive share
options.

4, te) oents to 0 [o]

There were no materiat events subsequent to the end of the six month period ended 30 June 2007 (30 June 2006:
Nil) that would require disclosure.

There were no changes in contingent liabilities and contingent assets that would require disclosure for the six
month period ended 30 June 2007 (30 June 2006: Nil).

6. Related Party Transactions

CDL Investments New Zealand Limited is a subsidiary of Millennium & Copthomne Hotels New Zealand Limited
({formerty CDL Hotels New Zealand Limited) by virtue of Millennlum & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited
owning 64.32% (2006: 63.48%) of the Company and having 3 out of 6 of the Directors on the Board. Millennium
& Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited is 70.22% owned by CDL Hotels Holdings New Zealand Limited, which
is a wholly owned subsidiary of Millennium & Coptharne Hotels plc in the United Kingdom. The ultimate holding
company is Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte Ltd in Singapore.

During the six month period ending 30 June 2007 CDL Investments New Zealand Limited has reimbursed its

parent, Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited, $108,000 (30 June 2006: $93,000) for expenses
incurred by the parent on behalf of the Group,

Page N 4




CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW

Financial Performance:

The Directors of CDL Investments New Zealand Limited ("CDLI"} are pleased to announce an
unaudited operating profit after tax of $7.566 million for the six month period ending 30 June
2007 (2006: $3.797 million). Operating profit before tax was $11.278 million (2006: $5.739
million). Property sales and other income for the period was $20.327 which was an increase
of 70.2% over the same period last year (2006: 11.944 million). A total of 108 sections were
sold (2006: 58).

Market Overview:

The Company's performance in the first half of 2007 has been better than in the same period
in 2006. While much of the revenue from sales recorded to date has been as a result of the
very positive momentum experienced in the latter half of 2006, the Company has been able to
achieve a good leve! of sales during the last six months. A major contributing factor to these
results has been the geographical spread of the Company's land portfolio.

Acquisitions:

The Company has acquired 3 properties totaling 13.6 hectares in the Hawkes Bay, Nelson
and Christchurch. A further property in Christchurch is due to settle shortly. Further
acquisitions in Christchurch have been approved by the Board and are subject to conditional
agreements,

Outlook:

Conflicting market and economic signals make it difficult to accurately predict demand for
residential sections in the second half of 2007. While some markets continue to be stronger
than others, it is clear that the property market as a whole is starting to slow down and this
trend is likely to continue given further market pressures such as increases in mortgage
interest rates and a fall in consumer confidence. The Company is therefore taking a
measured approach to trading over the next six months.

Given the strong performance in the first haif of the year, the Board continues to believe that
the 2007 full year result will be in line with the previous year's results despite these external
factors. However, the Board recognizes that the Company faces challenges, in particular
‘maintaining the present level of sales and revenue throughout the remainder of the year and
in to the first quarter of 2008,

Wong Hong Ren
Chairman
6 August 2007




6 August 2007

STRONG FIRST HALF RESULT FOR CDL INVESTMENTS

Property development and investment company COL Investments New Zealand Limited
(NZX:CDI) today announced its (unaudited) results for the six months to 30 June 2007.

» Operating profit after tax $7,566,000 (2006: $3,797,000)

¢ Operating profit before tax $11,278,000 (2006: $5,739,000)
+ Property sales and other income $20,327,000 (2006; $11,944,000)
+ Shareholders’ funds $81,912,000 (31/12/06: $74,681,000)
+ Total assets $84,081,000 (31/12/06: $76,213,000)
* Nettangible asset value (per share) 35.5 cents (31/12/06: 34.1 cents)

CDI's Chairman Mr, H R Wong said that the Board was happy with the first half results, *CDL
investments has performed well during the first half of 2007. In fact, the result is better than
we expected”, he said.

Executive Director John Lindsay noted that the result came from demand seen in the latter
half of 2006 and solid sales within the past six months. "Our results also show the benefits of
having a well-positioned and geographically diverse portfolio in that demand has been seen
across all sectors. Some markets are more active than others but generally speaking, we
have not seen any reduction in market demand until now”.

Despite external factors such as recent increases in mortgage interest rates and a fall in
immigration and consumer confidence, Mr. Wong said that the Company remained confident
it would deliver another satisfactory result for 2007. “There are challenges ahead and the
market is starting to slow down but we will be working hard to ensure to maintain a
satisfactory level of sales and deliver another solid full year result for our shareholders™, he
said.

ENDS

{ssued by CDL Investments New Zealand Ltd

Any inguiries please contact:

John Lindsay Takeshi lto
Executive Director or Company Secretary
CDL Investments New Zealand Ltd (09) 913 8005

(09) 913 8077
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Company Registration No. 1963003162

Announcement submitted on behalf | CITY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED
of

Announcement is submitted with | CITY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED

respect to *

Announcement is submitted by * Enid Ling Peek Fong
Designation * Company Secretary
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Announcement No. 00042

=>> Announcement Details
The details of the announcement start here ...

Announcement Title * | Announcement of Half Year Results for the peried ended 30 June 2007 of Subsidiary Company,
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited

Description We attach herewith the half year results announcement for the period ended 30 June 2007
issued by Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited on 7 August 2007, for your
information.

Attachments: MCHNZ_Half_Year-Results.pdf

MCHNZ_Half_Year_Financials.pdf
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MCHNZ_Chairman_Review.pdf
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B
Full and Half year Preliminary Announcements and Half Year Results

MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS NEW ZEALAND LIMITED

Results for announcement to the market

6 months to 30 June 2007

” 6 months to 30 June 2006

o T = ]

l /.‘-\n'lﬂln_lulﬂﬂ 1'31.105. ' _k_r_
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} NZ$ 12,953 Up 14.1%
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Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

[

Please refer to the attached Chairman's Review.




Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Interim Income Statement

The attached notes on pages N1 to N7 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.

FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 Unaudited Audited Unaudited
6 months 12 months 6 months
DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS NOTE to 30/6/07 to 31/12/06 to 30/6/06
Revenue 88,319 187,264 98,100
Cost of Sales {38,826) (88,933) {50,406)
Gross Profit 49,493 98,331 47,694
Other Operating Income - - 2
Administralive Expenses (16,320) (33,152) {17,120}
Other Operating Expenses (12,479} {24,150) (11,247)
Operating Profit Before Finance Costs 20,694 41,029 19,329
Finance Income 6,665 9,705 4,366
Finance Costs {1,850) (3.412) (1,692)
Net Finance Income 4,815 6293 2,674
Profit Before Tax 25,509 47322 22,003
Income Tax Expense (7,456) {9,400} (6,275)
Profit for the Period 18,053 37,922 15,728
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent 12,953 26,807 11,348
Minority Interest 5,100 11,015 4,380
18,053 37,922 15,728
DETAILS OF SPECIFIC RECEIPTS/OUTLAYS,
REVENUES/EXPENSES
Amortisation of Intangibles {122) (431) {251)
Audit Fees {135) (333) {183)
Depreciation (3.612) (7,289) (4,492)
Leasing and Rental Expenses (5,579) (12,000) (6,236)
Net Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment {1,089) (1,224) (100)
Earnings Per Share {Cents)
- Basic 3 3T71e 7.70c 3.25¢
- Diluted 3 37c 7.70c 3.25¢
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Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Interim Balance Sheet

Audited

AS AT 30 JUNE 2007 Unaudited Unaudited

6 months Year 6 months
DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS to 30/6/07 31/12/06 ta 30/6/06
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
issued Capital 430,330 430,330 430,330
Reserves {71,458) (74,833) (88,320)
Treasury Stock (8%) {85) (85)
Minority Interests 130,300 127,257 127,690
Total Equity 489,087 482,669 469,615
Represented by:
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment 251,562 245,104 232,009
Development Properties 96,047 41,363 39,096
Intangible Assets 4,691 4,815 4,994
Total Non Current Assets 352,300 291,282 276,099
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 171,589 174,755 170,546
Trade and Other Receivables 23,337 18,612 13,293
Inventories 1,740 1,892 1,754
Development Properties 18,987 74,488 83,815
Total Current Assets 215,653 269,647 269,408
Total Assets 567,953 560,929 545,507
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing Loans and Borrowings 48,745 44,298 -
Provisions 539 397 1,937
Deferred Tax Liabilities 12,152 12,874 13,694
Total Non Current Liabilities 61,436 57,570 15,631
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing Loans and Borrowings - - 42,728
Trade and Other Payables 13,949 17.510 15,696
Related Parties 202 295 650
Provisions 1,356 1,328 1,115
Income Tax Payable 1,923 1,557 72
Total Current Liabilities 17,430 20,690 60,261
Total Liabilities 78,866 78,260 75,892
Net Assets 489,087 482,669 469,615

The attached notes on pages N1 to N7 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.
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Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Cash Flows

FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 Unaudited Unaudited
6 months & months
DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS to 30/6/07 to 30/6/06
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash was provided from:
Receipts from Customers 83,458 101,335
Interest Received 6,627 4,346
90,085 105,681
Cash was applied to;
Payments to Suppliers and Employees (73,222} (79,456)
Interest Paid (1,782) (1,822)
Income Tax Paid (6.744) (9.810)
© (81,748) {91,088)
Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 8,337 14,593
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash was provided from:
Proceeds from Sale of Residential Development Properties 6,436 22,387
Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 96 -
6,532 22,387
Cash was applied to:
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (10,657) {4,380)
(10,657} {4,380)
Net Cash Inflow / {Outflow) From Investing Activities (4,125) 18,007
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash was provided from:
Drawdown of Borrowings 4,446 -
4,446 -
Cash was applied to:
Repayment of Borrowings - {842)
Dividends Paid to Shareholders of Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels New Zealand Ltd (8,732) (7.,335)
Dividends Paid to Minority Shareholders (2,258) (2,294)
{10,950) (10,471)
Net Cash Outflow from Financing Activities (6,544) (10,471)
Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash Held {2,332) 22,129
Add Opening Closing Cash and Cash Equivatents 174,755 132,958
Exchange Rate Adjustment {834) 15,459
Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents 171,589 170,546
Comprising:
Cash and Cash Equivalents 171,589 170,546
Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents 171,589 170,546

The attached notes on pages N1 to N7 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.



‘Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Cash Flows

Unaudited Unaudited

6 months 6 months
DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS NOTE to 30/6/07 to 30/6/06
RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit after Taxation 18,053 15,728
Adjusted for non cash items:
Amortisation of Intangibles 122 251
Depreciation 3612 4,492
Income Tax Expense 7.456 6,275
Loss an Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 1,089 100
Adjustments for movements in working capital:
{tncrease) f Decrease in Receivables (4.899) 3,213
(Increase) / Decrease in Inventories 152 448
{Increase) / Decrease in Development Properties (6,428) {4,984)
Increase / (Decrease) in Payables (2,138) 239
Increase / (Decrease) in Related Parties {(87) 332
Cash generated from Operations 16,932 26,095
Interest Paid (including ¢apitalised interest) (1,851) (1,692)
Income Tax Paid (6,744) {9,810}
Cash Inflows from Operating Aclivities 8,337 1l4.593

The attached notes on pages N1 to N7 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.
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Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated interim Financial Statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2007 (unaudited)

1.

Significant accounting policies

Millennium & Copthorne Hetels New Zealand Limited {formery COL Hotels New Zealand Limited) is a company
domiciled in New Zealand, registered under the Companies Act 1993 and listed on the New Zealand Stock
Exchange. Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited {the "Company”) is an issuer in terms of the
Financial Reporting Act 1993. The condensed consolidated interim financial statements of the Company far the six
months ended 30 June 2007 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred io as the “Group”).

The condensed consolidated interim financial statements were authorised for issuance on 7 August 2007,
{a) Statement of compliance

The condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP). They comply with New Zeatand equivalents to nternational
Financial Reporting Standards {NZ IFRSs) as appropriate for profit orientated entities. Compliance with NZ IFRSs
ensures that the consclidated financiat statements also comply with Intemational Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The
condensed consolidated interim financial statements do not include all of the information required for full annual
financial statements,

{b} Basls of preparation

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand Dollars, rounded to the nearest thousand. They are prepared
on the historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value: investment
property and hotel land and buildings.

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The preparation of interim financial statements in conformity with NZ IAS 34 interim Financial Reporting requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Group policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised and in any future period affected.

The accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the Group for purposes of these condensed
consolidated interim financial statements,

(c) Basls of consolidation

Subsidiarles

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entily so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In
assessing control, potential voling rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that controf
commences until the date that control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from
transactions with jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the entity. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment,

(d) Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to doilars
at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in
the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to dollars at foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.
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Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated interim Financial Statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2007 {unaudited)

1. Significant accounting policies continued
(d) Foreign currency -continued

Financial statements of foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation,
are translated to New Zealand dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues and
expenses of foreign operations are translated to dollars at rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the {ransactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised directly as a
separate component of equity.

Net investment in forelgn operations
Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of related hedges
are taken to the exchange reserve. They are released into the income statement upon disposal.

(e) Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks arising frem operational,
financing and investment aclivities. In accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes. However, derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
accounted for as trading instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial
instruments are stated at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in the
income statement. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss
depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate the
swap at the balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the
swap counterpariies.

{f) Hedging

Hedge of monetary assets and liabiilties

When a derivative financial instrument is used as an economic hedge of the interest rate exposure of a recognised
monetary asset or liability, hedge accounting is not applied and any gain or loss on the hedging instrument is
recognised in the income statement.

{g) Property, plant and equipment

Initial recording

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, except where certain assets have been revalued. The cost of purchased property, plant and equipment is the
value of the consideration given to acquire the assets and the value of other directly attributable costs, which have
been incurred in bringing the assels to the location and condition necessary for their intended service. Where parts
of an item of property, ptant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of
property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent measurement

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of
such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the income
statement as an expense as incurred,

Revaluation

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on a triennial cycle, valuations by independent registered valuers
less subsequent depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
Any decrease in value that offset a previous increase in value of the same asset is charged against reserves in
equity, any other decrease in value is charged to the income statement. '

Page N2




Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2007 (unaudited)

1. Significant accounting policles -continued
{g) Property, plant and equipment -continued

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives,

as follows:
Building core 50 years or lease term if shorter
Building surfaces and finishes 30 years or lease term if shorter
Plant and machinery 15 - 20 years
Furniture and equipment 10 years
Soft furnishings 5-7 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

No residual values are ascribed to building surfaces and finishes. Residual values ascribed to building core depend
on the nature, location and tenure of each property. Residual values are reassessed annually.

Capital expenditure on major projects is recorded separately within property, plant and equipment as capital work in
progress. Once the project is complete the balance is transferred to the appropriate property, plant arid equipment
categories. Capital work in progress is nol depreciated.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of property, plant and equipment are detemined as the
difference between the estimated net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in
the income statement account on the date of retirement or disposal.

Operaling supplies are treated as a base stock and renewals and replacements of such stocks are written off to the
income statement as incurred,

{h) Development properties

Property held for fulure development is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of
acquisition, development, and holding costs such as interest and rates. Interest and other holding costs incurred after
completion of development are expensed as incurred. All holding costs are written off through the income statement
in the year incurred with the exception of interest holding costs which are capitalised during the period when active
development is taking place. Revenue and profit are not recognised on development properties untit the transfer of
{egal title, which reflects the transfer of the risks and rewards of ownership.

(1} Intangible assets

Goodwill

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Goodwill represents amounts arising
on acquisition of subsidiaries. In respect of business acquisitions that have occurred since 1 January 2004, goodwill
represents the difference betwaen the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
and is no longer amortised but is tested annually for impairment (see accounting policy (n)).

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the income statement.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (see below)
and impairment losses (see accounting policy (n)).

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic
benefits embodied in the specific assel to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.
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Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Condensed Consaolidated Interim Financial Statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2007 {unaudited)

1. Significant accounting policies —continued

(i} Intangible assets - continued

Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of other
intangible assets.
The estimated useful lives utilised are as follow:
Management contracts 12 years
Leasehold interests 10 — 27 years

() Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any provision for permanent diminution in value, which
is recorded through the income statement.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less, Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management are
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

(f) Trade and other recelvables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy (n)).

(m) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated cosls of completion and selling expenses.

The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out principte and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition.

{n) Impairment

The carmying amounts of the Group's assets other than investment property, inventories, and deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, the assetl's recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairmment losses are recognised in the income statement unless the asset is recorded at a
revalued amount in which case it is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are aflocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units (group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Group's receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated as the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not
generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2007 {unaudited)

1. Significant accounting policies —continued

{n) Impaiment - continued

Reversals of impairment
An impairment foss in respect of a receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase in
recoverable amount can be related objectively 1o an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

in respect of other assets, an impaimment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

{0} Employee long-term service benefits

The Group's net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits, is the amount of fulure benefil that employees
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods, The obtigation s calculated using their
present remuneration and an assessment of likelihood the liability will arise.

{p) Revenue
Revenue represents amounts derived from:

= The ownership, management and operation of hotels: recognised on an accruals basis to match the provision of
the related goods and services.

= Income from property rental: recognised on an accruals basis, straight line over the lease period. Lease
incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.

» Income from land and property sales: recognised on the transfer of the related significant tisk and rewards of
ownership.

(q) Flnance expenses and income

Finance expenses comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method,
foreign exchange gains and losses, and gains and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or
loss.

Finance income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is
recognised in profit or loss on the date the entity’s right lo receive payments is established which in the case of
quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.

Interest attributable to funds used to finance the acquisition, development, or construction of new hotels, major
extensions to existing hotels or development properties is capitalised gross of tax relief and added to the cost of the
hotel core buildings or development property.

{r) Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it refates to items recognised directly in equity, in which
case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. The current tax
expenses for the six month periods ended 30 June 2006 and 2005 were calculated based on the estimated average
annual effective income tax rate.

Deferred tax is provided using the batance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible far tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets o liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to
invesiments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of
deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
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Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Condensed Consoclidated Interim Financial Statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2007 {(unaudited)

1. Stgnificant accounting policies —continued

{r) Income tax - continued

The recently announced Government Budget 2007 has reduced the corporate tax rate from 33% to 30% to take
effect from 1 April 2008. Consequently the impact of the tax rate reduction was to reduce the deferred tax liability on
hotel property by $1.0m which was directly recognised in equity.

The deferred tax expenses for the six month periods ended 30 June 2007 and 2006 were calculated based on the
estimated average annual effective income tax rate. The estimate annual effective income tax rate calculated on this
basis is 28.5% (30 June 2006; 28.5%).

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that fulure taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability
to pay the related dividend.

(s) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment),-or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

2, Segment reporting

Segment information is presented in the consolidated interim financial statements in respect of the Group's
business and geographical segments, Business segments are the primary basis of segment reporting. Segment
reporting format reflects the Group's management and internal reporting structure.

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm's length basis. Segment results include items directly attributable to
a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable hasis.

Business segments
The Group consisted of the following main business segments:

* Hotel operations, comprising income from the ownership and management of hotels.
*  Property operations, comprising the development and sale of land and development properties and investment
property rental income.

Geographical segments

The Group consisted of the following main geographic segments:
+ New Zealand.

o Australia.

{a) Business Segments

Hotel Property Group
Doliars in thousands 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Segment Revenue 63,539 64,913 31,445 37,555 94,984 102,468
Segment Profit before Tax 9,578 10,340 15,931 11,663 25,509 22,003
Income Tax Expense (7.456) {6,275) !
i

Profit for the Period 18,063 15,728

Page N& ,



Millenniurn & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Staternents
for the six months ended 30 June 2007 (unaudited)

2.

3.

4.

5.

6,

Segment reporting -continued

(b) Geographic Segments

New Zealand Australia Group
Dollars in thousands 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Segment Revenue 83,897 76,873 11,087 25,595 94,984 102,468
Segmenti Profit before Tax 21,054 16,176 4,455 5,827 25,509 22,003
Income Tax Expense (7.456) (6,275}
Profit for the Period 18,053 15,728

Earnings per share

Six month period ended 30 June 2007

The basic earnings per share of 3.71 cents (30 June 2006: earnings per share of 3.25 cents) are based on the profit
attributable to ordinary shareholders of $12.95m {30 June 2006: profit of $11.35m) and weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the period ended 30 June 2007 of 348,268,439 (30 June 2006: 349,268,439).
The calculation of diluted eamnings per share of 3.71 cents {30 June 2006: earnings per share of 3.25 cents} is the
same as basic earnings per share.

Material events subsequent to the end of the interim period

There were no material events subsequent to the end of the six month period ended 30 June 2007 (30 June 2006:
Nil) that would require disclosure.

Changes in contingent liabilities and contingent assets since last annual batance sheet date

There were no such changes in contingent liabilities and contingent assets that would require disclosure for the six
manth period ended 30 June 2007 {30 June 2006: Nil).

Related party transactions

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited is a 70.22% owned subsidiary of CDL Hotels Holdings New
Zealand Limited which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc in the United Kingdom.
The ultimate parent company is Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte Lid in Singapore.

During the six month perind ending 30 June 2007, costs amounting to $125,000 (30 June 2006: $154,000} have
been recorded in the Income Statement in respect of:

) Reimbursement of expenses incurred by Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc on behalf of the New Zealand
subsidiary; and
. Fees payable to Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc for the provision of management and marketing support.
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

Financial Performance;

The Directors of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited ("MCK") are pleased to
announce an unaudited operating profit after tax of $12.95 million for the six month period
ending 30 June 2007 {2006: $11.35 million). Operating profit before tax and minorities was
$25.51 million (2008: $22.00 million) with the New Zealand Hotel Operations contributing
38.3%, CDL Investments New Zealand Limited ceniributing 44.2% and the Australian
operations contributing 17.5%.

Group results for the six months ending 30 June 2007 {(NZ IFRS):

Group revenue and other income for the period under review was $94.98 million (2006:
$102.47 million). Gross Operating Profit increased by 3.77% to $49.49 million {2006: $47.69
million). While the New Zealand hotel operations traded satisfactorily, revenue was affected
by the lack of sales of apartments at the Zenith Residences in Sydney. A better than
expected performance from CDL Investments New Zealand Limited was the most significant
contributor to the results for the last six months.

New Zealand Hotel Operations:

Total revenue for the New Zealand Hotel operations (19 owned or leased and operated hotels
excluding 12 franchised properties) for the period under review was $63.54 million. (2006:
$64.91 million). Expiry of the Kingsgate Hotel Greenlane lease and refurbishment of
Kingsgate Hotel Oriental Bay Wellington confributed to the reduction in revenue. Hotel
occupancy remained static at 70.2% across the group.

The Company continues with its refurbishment and reinvestment programme in its hotels and
is seeing tangible results. In March we were delighted that the Millennium Hotel Christchurch,
which was refurbished in 2006, received a 5-Star ‘Exceptional’ rating from Qualmark putting
the hotel amongst the best in New Zealand.

The first part of our $10 million refurbishment of the Copthorne Hotel Wellington Oriental Bay
(formerly the Kingsgate Hote! Oriental Bay) has been completed and has mel with very
positive customer feedback.

Recently, the Company announced that it was supporting the proposed new visitor and
educational facilities to be built by the Waitangi National Trust Board on the historic Treaty
Grounds at Waitangi. In addition, the Company, together with its joint venture partner, also
announced that it was proceeding with a $6 million extension project at the Copthorne Hotel
and Resort Bay of Islands to add a further 35 rooms to grow the property to a totat of 180
rooms and suiles.

A major upgrade of guestroom bathrooms has been completed al Kingsgate Hotel
Palmerston North. Refurbishment work has also been completed to the exterior and the roof
of the Millennium Hotel Rotorua, and the refurbishment of the guestrooms and suites at
Millennium Hotel Queenstown was completed.

While the lease on the Kingsgate Hotel Greenlane came to an end within the period under
review, a new agreement to lease has been finalised that will see the Company taking a lease
of a refurbished 100-room Copthorne-standard hotel in the later part of 2008.




CDL Investments New Zealand Limited {*CDLI') :

CDLI announced an unaudited operating profit after tax for the six months ended 30 June
2007 of $7.57 million. This was an increase of 99.3 percent over the same period last year.
Property sales revenue for the period was $19.36 million, up from the $11.65 million in 2008.

MCK received its most recent dividends in shares from CDLI and now holds 64,32% (2006:
63.48%) of CDLI.

Australian Operations:

Leasing of units in the Zenith Residences is being undertaken as demand for rental property
in Sydney increases.

Qutlook:

Taking into account increasingly challenging market conditions such as static internaticnal
visitor numbers and increased costs particularly with regard to payroll and energy, the Group
has performed satisfactorily during the past six months. The effect of the high New Zealand
dollar is yet to be felt but is likely to have an impact in the latter part of 2007 as the Company
renegotiates its agreements with key international suppliers. The Company continues to
refine its sales and marketing to meet customer demand and market conditions,

Assuming no adverse or unforeseen events, the Board believes that the resuits for the full
year will continue to be profitable.

W 1

Wong Hong Ren
Chairman
7 August 2007




7 August 2007

PROPERTY MARKET ACTIVITY UNDERLINES MILLENNIUM &
COPTHORNE NEW ZEALAND'S RESULTS

New Zealand's largest hotel owner / aperator, Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand
Limited (“MCK"), teday announced its (unaudited) results for the six months te 30 June 2006.

» Operating profit after tax $12.95 million (2006: $11.35m)
+ QOperating profit before tax and minorities $25.51 million {2006: $22.00m)
+  Group Revenue and other income $94 .48 million (20086: $102.47m)
s Average hotel occupancy across the Group 70.2%

Managing Director Mr. B K Chiu said that the Company has had a busy half year making
continued investments into its hotels. The first stage of a $10 million transformation of the
Copthorne Hotel Oriental Bay from a Kingsgate Hotel has been completed and the Bay Wing
is open for business. “The customer feedback has been fantastic and it has created a lot of
interest”, said Mr. Chiu. Work continues on the Roxburgh Wing and is scheduled for
completion in a few months. “Once complete, we will have a four-star hotel, five-star service
and six-star views", he said.

A $6 million expansion project at the Copthorne Hotel and Resort Bay of Islands was also
announced recently. This project, when completed by the end of the year will give the resort
a total of 180 rooms and suites. “This expansion meets our customer demand and also
allows us to unlock the potential for tourism in Northland"™ he said. The Company also
recently announced that it was supporting the proposed new visitor and educational facilities
to be built by the Waitangi National Trust Board.

Other projects completed or commenced in the period under review included upgraded
bathrooms at the Kingsgate Hotel Palmerston North, refurbishment of the exterior at
Millennium Hote! Rotorua and completion of the refurbishment work at Millennium Hotel
Queenstown,

A highlight of the past six months has been the 5-star Qualmark rating given to the Millennium
Hotel Christchurch. “it's a fantastic achievement, one that the Company is very proud of and
something for our colleagues at our other hotels to match”, said Mr. Chiu. “The combination
of Qualmark assessments, together with our recently-introduced Outstanding Service
Experience programme will set new benchmarks across our group”, he said.

The Company also noted that its majority-owned subsidiary CDL Investments New Zealand
Limiled had traded ahead of expectations in the same period.

Speaking about the outlook for the group in the second half of 2007, Chairman Mr. Wong
Hong Ren said that external factors would likely impact on the Company’s full year results.
“But assuming no adverse or unforeseen events, the Board believes that the results for the
full year will continue to be profitable”, he said.

ENDS

Issued by Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Ltd
Any inquiries please contact:

Takeshi {to, Company Secretary

Miltennium & Copthome Holels New Zealand Ltd
(09) 913 8058
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PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements Required Under SRC Rule 68.1

o Please see attached financial statements for interim Balance Sheets, Statements of
Income, Statements of Changes in Equity and Statements of Cash flows.

Notes to Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting policies

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
Philippine generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and are denominated in
Philippine pesos. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Philippine
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The financial statements
have, in management’s opinion, been properly prepared within reasonable limits of
materiality and within the framework of the significant accounting policies.

The same accounting policies and methods of computation are followed in the interim
financial statements for the year 2006 as compared with the most recent annual financial
statements.

Seasonality or Cyclicality of Interim Operations
All segments of the business are in its normal trading pattern.

Material Items
There are no material items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows
that are unusual because of their nature, size or incidents.

Estimates

There are no changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim periods of the
current financial year or changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior financial years
that have a material effect in the current interim period.

Issuances of Debis and Lquity

There are no issuances, repurchases and repayments of debts and equity securities.

Dividends
There were no dividends declared in the current interim period.



Segment Revenue and Results

Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 31, “Segment Reporting”, which
becomes effective for financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January
I, 2001, requires that a public business enterprise report financial and descriptive
information about its reportable segments. Operating segments are components of an
enterprise about which separate financial information is avaitable that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision-maker in deciding how to allocate resources and
in assessing performance.

The Company organized its business into 4 main segments:

* Room Division — Business derived from the sale of guestrooms.

* Food and Beverage Division — Business derived from the sale of food and beverage at
various restaurants.

o  Other Operated Departments — Business derived from telephone department, business
center, carparking and laundry.

¢ Others- Business derived from rental of space.

The segment revenues and results are as follows:

YTD 2™ Quarter YTD 2™ Quarter
Revenue — Peso Department Profit - Peso
Room 168,904,530 145,016,405
Food and Beverage 106,732,497 50,174,994
Other Operated Departments 3,483,776 371,079
Qthers 54,365,479 54,365,479

Subsequent Events
None

Composition of Company

There are no changes in the composition of the Company during the interim period,
including business combinations, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and long-term
investments, restructurings and discontinuing operations.

Contingent assets or liabilities
There are no changes in contingent assets or liabilities since the last annual balance sheet
date.

Contingencies
There are no material contingencies and any other events or transactions that are material
to an understanding of the current interim pertod.




Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

of Operations

The top 5 Key Performance Indicators of the Company are as follows:

and Results

Balance Sheet Analysis 30 June 30 June 31 December
2007 2006 2006

Current ratio 1,75 2.08 1.52

Net book value per share (include PhP13.47 PhP13.96 PhP12.58

treasury shares)

Profit & Loss Analysis

Earnings per share PhP1.06 PhP1.06 PhP2.15

Profit before tax margin ratio 35.44% 35.68% 34.91%

EBITDA PhP126 million | PhP116 million | PhP241 million

Current ratio is derived by dividing the current assets with the current liabilities. This
indicator measures the liquidity of the Company in the short-term. Current ratio improved
by 0.23 as compared to the end of last year due to higher current assets balance. Cash
balance increased by PhP33 million from the same period last year as there were no
major payments. It decreased by 0.33 versus last year as cash balance has dropped as a
resuit of payments to contractors for renovation and payment of share buyback in second
half of 2006.

Net book value per share is derived by dividing the net stockholders’ equity by the total
number of shares issued. This measures the value of the Company on a per share basis.
This ratio improved compared to the same period last year and the year ended 31
December 2006 due to higher assets value. It is lower than same period of last year due to
fower cash balance.

Earning per share (EPS) is derived by dividing the net profit after tax by the total shares
outstanding. This indicator measures the earning of the Company on a per share basis. As
compared to the same period last year, EPS is the same.

Profit before tax margin ratio is computed by dividing the profit before tax against the
total revenue. This ratio measures whether the Company is able to contain its expenses in
relation to the revenue. This ratio is marginally lower than last year.

EBITDA represents earnings before income tax, interest, depreciation and amortization.
This indicator is in effect a measure of the cash flow of the Company. EBITDA is
healthier this year due to higher revenue. EBITDA is higher than the same period last
year as a result of higher revenue and lower costs.




Balance Sheets Analysis:

Total assets increased by about PhP77 million or 5.3% as compared to the year ended 31
December 2006 and decreased by about PhP43 million or 2.7% as compared to the same
period of last year.

Cash and short term notes:

This balance includes short-term fixed deposits with banks. There is an increase of PhP33
million as compared to the end of last fiscal year. As compared against the same period
last year, this balance decreased by PhP103 million. The main reason for the drop versus
last year is due to payment for share buyback in second-half of year 2006 and payment to
contractors for renovation of hotel.

Accrued interest receivable:
There is a significant change in balance as compared to the end of last fiscal year. As
compared to the same period, the decrease is due to lower cash balance.

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax assets decreased by PhP0.26 million as compared to 31 December 2006. As
compared to the same period of last year, there is an increase of PhP3 million due to
recognition of additional deferred tax assets.

Advances to associated/related companies:
The Company, in its normal course of business, has entered into transactions with its
related parties, principally consisting of cash advances.

The Company also leases its hotel site and a furnished townhouse from an associated
company. The Company has also entered into a management agreement with CDL Hotels
(Phils) Corporation, a related company, for the latter to operate the Hotel.

Under the terms and conditions of the agreement, the Company has to pay monthly basic
management and incentive fees based on a percentage of the hotel’s revenue and gross
operating profit.

As compared to the same period of last year, there is a no significant movement.

As compared with the end of last fiscal year, there is an increase of PhP10 million as the
related companies have not settled its obligation with the Company.

Prepaid expenses:

The bulk of this balance represents insurance premium prepaid at the beginning of the
year. As compared to end of the last fiscal year, there is a decrease of PhP6.7 million due
to amortization of insurance premium.



Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation is provided under the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from 5 to 50 years.
Major improvements are charged to property accounts while maintenance and repairs
which do not improve the lives of the assets are expensed as incurred.

There is an increase in balance as compared to the same period of last year and end of last
fiscal year due to addition of new assets in connection with the on-going renovation of
the hotel.

Other current assels.

As compared to the same period of last year, there is an increase of PhP6 million mainly
due to higher deferred input tax and a decrease in deposits to suppliers. As compared to
end of last fiscal year, there is a significant increase of PhP14 million mainly as a result
of the recognition of payment to local shareholders for share buyback exercise in year
2007.

Accounts payable:
There is an increase in balance from the same period of last year by PhP7 million. The
higher balance is due to unpaid VAT by Pagcor, a tenant of the hotel.

Due to associated/related companies:

As compared against the same period of last year, there is a significant decrease of
PhP12.5 million. The decrease is because the Company has settled its outstanding
balance with the related company.

Income Tax Payable:

Income tax payable decreased by PhP6 million as compared to 31 December 2006 and
increased by PhP2.2 million as compared against the same period of last year. The
decrease in balance against the end of last fiscal year is due to the payment of last quarter
2006 tax in year 2007.




Income Statement Analysis For the 6§ Months Ended 30 June 2007:

Revenue:
Total revenue increased marginally by PhP0.8 million or 0.2% as compared to the same
period last year. The increase is observed mainly in room revenue.

Room revenue improved by PhP2.7 million as a result of higher Average Room Rate.
Occupancy registered a decrease from 72% (year 2006) to 64% (year 2007). The drop in
occupancy is partly due to closure of some rooms in connection with the renovation of
the guestrooms. However, Average Room Rate (ARR) improved by PhP418 as compared
to year 2006.

Food and beverage (F&B) business showed a drop of PhP0.8 million as compared to the
same period of last year. The bulk of the fall is from Riviera café as the hotel is
undergoing renovation to its guestrooms, the breakfast revenue is affected in the Riviera.

Cost of Sales:
Cost of sales for F&B registered a minor increase as compared to last year.

Gross Profit:
Gross profit is derived after deducting cost of sales from gross revenue. Gross profit as
compared to last year does not show significant movement.

Operating Expenses:

Operating expenses include among others, payroll and related expenses, utilities,
depreciation charges, rental and other fixed expenses. The decrease in operating expenses
as compared to the same period last year is consistent with the lower occupancy and F&B
revenue.

Net Operating Income:
This is derived after deducting operating expenses from gross operating profit. The better
margin is due to lower expenses.

Non-operating income:

Total non-operating income decreased by PhP9.5 million as compared to the same period
of last year. This is due to lower interest income and exchange loss of PhP3 million. The
peso has strengthened significantly this year versus last year against the US dollar.



income Statement Analysis For the Second Quarter Ended 30 June 2007:

Revenue:
Total revenue increased by PhP0.4 million as compared to the same period last year.

Room revenue improved by PhP2 million as a result of higher Average Room Rate. With
the improvement in economy, the Company adjusted its rcom rate upwards for certain
segment of business and this resulted in an improvement in Revenue Per Available Room
(RevPar) for the second quarter compared with same period tast year.

Food and beverage (F&B) business showed a drop of PhP3.7 million or 7% as compared
to the same period of last year. This is due to the decrease in food covers as compared to
the same period of last year. During this quarter, the Riviera restaurant registered a drop
in revenue. Our competitor, Philippine Plaza Hotel, formerly known as Westin Philippine
Plaza has renovated its coffee shop and it adds to the competition for F&B in the bay
area. In addition, the renovation of guestrooms also caused a drop in occupancy and the
resulting in a decrease in breakfast covers.

Cost of Sales:
Cost of sales for F&B registered a decrease as compared to last year. The decrease is
consistent with the lower F&B revenue.

Gross Profit:
Gross profit is derived after deducting cost of sales from gross revenue. Gross profit as
compared to last year is slightly higher.

Operating Expenses.

Operating expenses include among others, payroll and related expenses, utilities,
depreciation charges, rental and other fixed expenses. The decrease in operating expenses
as compared to the same period last year is due to cost control measures.

Net Operating Income:
This is derived after deducting operating expenses from gross operating profit. The better
margin is due to lower operating expenses.

Non-operating income:

Total non-operating income decreased by PhP11 million as compared to the same period
of last vear. This is due to the total foreign exchange loss of PhI’2 million as compared to
a gain of PhP7.9 million in year 2006.

There are no material event(s) and uncertainties known to management that would
address the past and would have an impact on the future operations of the following:

¢ Any known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have a
material impact on the Company’s liquidity.




e Any material commitments for capital expenditures, the general purpose of such
commitments and the expected sources of funds for such expenditures.

e Any known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably
expected to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net
sales/revenues/income from continuing operations.

s Any significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Company’s
continuing operations.

» The causes for any material change(s) (5% or more) from period to period in one or
more line items (vertical and horizontal) of the Company’s financial statements.

s Any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of
operations.

Management is not aware of any event that may trigger direct or contingent financial
obligations that is material to the Company, including any default or acceleration of an
obligation. Management is not aware of any material off-balance sheet transaction,
arrangement, obligation (including contingent obligations), and other relationships of the
Company with unconsolidated entities or other persons that were created during the first
6 months of 2007.



GRAND PLAZA HOTEL CORPORATION
Balanca Shaets
Juna 30, 2007 and 2006

(With comparative figures for the year ended Dacember 31, 2006)

{In Philippine Pexcs)

Unaudited Unaudited Audited
ASSETS Juna 30, 2007 June 10, 200§ Dec. 31, 2006
Currant Assats
Cash and shost-term nates 270,015,383 373,788,027 237,342,702
Accrued inlerest recaivatie 282,473 722,195 204,353
Atcounts racelvable - trada 199,017,354 189,300,749 198,237 658
Accoums racelvable - cthers 1,392,500 1,837,383 2,105,022
Provision for bad dabta {17.748) {335.008) (440,058}
Deforred tax sssats/Tabities) 10,213,244 7,088,570 10,474,579
Advances b #s3oclatediretatad companies 21,134,318 24,100,834 13,002,314
Inventonies 0245938 8,222,218 10871285
Prepaid oxpenses 11304079 13,030,015 18825090
Creditable withholding tax 41,748 54,128 17,345
Othar turant asaets 34,278 062 28, 18.133 19,515 554
Total Curarnd Assaty 559,600,227 544,357,305 510,352,358
Proparty snd Equipment 812,673,785 709,753,082 785,650,348
in Stock of 45,684,729 44,440 200 44,708, 788
Daposit on Lesss Cordract 78,000,000 78,000,000 78,000,000
Loans Receivable 15,500,000 15,500,000 185,500,000
Other Asssts
Miscel: [ snd dep 5085701 511870 ERIL R
Others 1,010,000 1,010,000 1,018,000
Total Other Assafs 4005701 8120791 4,128,791
Total Asseis fiﬂ?llllis.‘l 1 1,580,187, 307 1“44'0 140,279
Unaudited Unaudiled
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY June 30, 2007 Juna 30, 2006 Dec, 11, 1006
Ceirant Linbifities
Accounis paysble 192841438 105,038,517 192,445,851
Accnied Eabiiies 61,304,080 82,515,118 58,187,517
Rantsl payabie 1,904,343 1,025,743 962,872
Ous 10 assodnted/retsted companies 4258122 17,413,040 3,304 909
A rom & holding -t - - -
Refundabie deposit 28,480,381 25,552,400 27300434
Defarred antal T.304,845 7.380.734 13909479
Ohvidend payable - - 1400
Income tax payabte 18,860,358 18,578,323 24,074,540
Oxhar cyrrant Hablittes 2508019 2,251,142 2263123
Total Current Liablities 317,008 484 318,682,022 348,300,783
Long - Term Liabilitias
Resarves 23,517,837 27,008,355 25,812,313
Tors Long - Term Lizbilties 21 517,837 22,006 255 25812313
Capital Stock
Authorized - 115,000,000 shares in 2008 and
2005 at P10.00 par value per share
Capilal stoch 873,182,600 873,182,699 273,182,899
Premeum on capltal $iock 11,005,004 11,085 204 11,965,904
Paichin capitel in excess of par - Warrzanls 2801 814 2.6801814 2,601 814
Treasury stock (897,078,470} {551.380.270} (697,0T2.470)
i L Ly it] - beginni 907 481,368 a01,233,887 801,233,857
Relained profiv(loss) for 1h perad 77.885,115 60,842,268 157,594,004
Qividend declared - - (51.363,345)
Total Stockhokders” Equity 1,175,008,230 1,214528,110 1,098.227,203
Total Liabilities and Stockholders” Equity 1,547,334, 501 1,580,147, 387 1441340273




GRAND PLAZA HOTEL CORPORATION
Income Statements
For the years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006

{With comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2006)

(In Philippine Pesos)

Revenue
Rooms
Food & Beverage
Other Operated Depts.
Rental Income/Others

Total Revenue
Cost of Sales
Food & Beverage
Other Operated Depts.
Total Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Operating Expenses
Net Operating Income
Non-operating Income/{Loss)
Interest Income
Dividend Income

Gain/{Loss) on Disposal of Fixed Assets
Exchange Gain/(Loss)

Share in Net Income/{Loss) of Associated Co.

Total Non-Operating Income
Net Income/(Loss) Before Tax

Provision for Income Tax

Net Income/{Loss) After Tax

Farnings per share

Dilluted earnings per share

Notes:

Unaudited Unaudited Audited
Year-to-date Year-to-date Full Year
June 30, 2007 June 30, 2006 Dec. 31, 2006
168,904,530 166,126,190 329,097,179
106,732,497 107,602,479 224,958,055
3,483,776 4,723,508 8,734,803
54,365 479 54,157,819 110,194,885
333,486,282 332,609,995 672,984,922
29,584 177 29,216,231 61,520,377
1,686,808 2,025,856 3,932,907
31,280,986 31,242,087 65,453 284
302,205,297 301,367,908 607,531,638
189,023,783 197,260,811 391,264,953
113,181,514 104,107,096 216,266,685
6,366,352 9,194,049 17,130,531
172,856 18,501 67,705
582,263 - 48,671
(3,077,349) 5,079,589 138,433
955,943 276,252 536,829
5,000,166 14,568 351 17,922 169
118,181,680 118,675,487 234,188,854
40,496,564 37,833,121 76,593,950
77,685,115 80,842,366 157,594,904
1.06 1.06 2.15
1.06 1.06 2.15

In June 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006 , total shares outstanding is 76,290,009 shares

net of 13,942,063 treasury shares.

In June 30, 2006 total shares outstanding is 76,290,009 shares, net of 11,028,261 treasury shares




GRAND FPLAZA HOTEL CORPORATION
Income Statements

For the 2nd quarters ended June 30, 2007 and 2006

{In Philippine Pesos)

Revenue
Rooms
Food & Beverage
Other Operated Depts.
Rental Income/Others

Total Revenue
Cost of Sales
Food & Beverage
Other Operated Depts.
Total Cost of Salfes
Gross Profit
Operating Expenses
Net Operating Income
Non-operating Income/(Loss)
Interest Income
Dividend Income

Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Fixed Assels
Exchange Gain/{Loss)

Share in Net Income/(Loss} of Associated Co.

Total Non-Operating Income
Net Income/(Loss) Before Tax

Provision for Income Tax

Net Income/{Loss) After Tax

Unaudited Unaudited
2nd Quarter 2nd Quarter
June 30, 2007 June 30, 2006
82,831,339 80,461,266
48,619,423 52,361,481
1,648,399 2,132,614
27,278,543 24 966 927
160,377,704 159,922,288
13,904,925 14,361,355
858,082 980,335
14,763,908 15,351,691
145,613,796 144,570,598
91,696,323 97,703,531
53,817,473 46,867,067
3,265,076 4,885,561
10,810 -
550,971 -
{2,030,099) 7,962 875
B8 733 307,422
1,885,492 13,155,858
55,802,965 60,022,925
19,404,085 17,520,925
36,398,880 42,501,999




GRAND PLAZA HOTEL CORPORATION
Statements of Changes in Equity
For the years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006

(With comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2006}

(In Philippine Pesos)

Balance - beginning
Prior period adjustment
Balance - as adjusted
Net income for the period
Dividends

Retirement of shares

Buyback of shares

Balance - end

Unaudited
June 30, 2007

Unaudited
June 30, 2006

Audited
Dec. 31, 2006

1,098,227,203 1,137,685,744 1,137,685,744
(4,089)

1,098,223,114 1,137,686,744 1,137,685,744

77,685,115 80,842,366 157,594,904

- . (51,363,345)

- - (145,690,100)

1,175,908,230 1,218,528,110 1,098,227,203




GRAND PLAZA HOTEL CORPORATION
Cash Flow Statements
For the years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006

(With comparative figuras for the year ended December 31, 2006)

{In Philippine Pesos}

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities
Prior period adjustments
Depreciation and amortization
Equity in net income of associated company
Provision for bad debts
Changes in cperating assets and liabilities
{Increase) decreass in
Accrued interest receivable
Accounts receivable - trade
Accounts receivable - others
Deferred income tax
Advances to associated company
Advances to immediate holding company
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Creditable withholding tax
Other current assets
Increase {decrease) in
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Rental payable
Due to associated company
Refundable deposit
Deferred rental - Pagcor
Dividend payable
Income tax payable
Other current liabilities

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment - net
Dividend (declared)/received
(Receipts)/Payments relating to other assets
Buyback of shares - net

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase/(Decrease) in reserves

Net increase in cash and short-term notes
Cash and short-term notes, Beginning

Cash and short-term notes, Ending

Unaudited Unaudited Audited
Year-to-date Year-to-date Full Year
June 30, 2007 June 30, 2006 Dec. 31, 2006
77,685,115 80,842,366 157,594 804
(4,089) - .
13,176,776 12,807,564 25637,134
(955,943) (276,252) {536,829)
17,746 335,006 440,058
11,885 (263,374) 164,463
(1,219,741) (1,196,048) (10,124, 967)
712,533 1,812,474 1,344,824
261,335 1,803,566 {1,502,434)
(10,132,003) 1,787,058 12,945728
- 202,363 202,363
1,431,329 2,527,076 672,029
6,730,114 (666,824} (6,261,902)
(25,904) 49,419 85,701
{14,762,504) {23,255,133) (14,651,557}
195,588 2,329,955 9,739,289
3,146,543 8,281,770 3,924,169
041,472 (908,879) (1,871,750}
1,553,183 7,498,759 (6,610,148}
1,078,946 2,082,217 3,919,152
(26,134) - 1,245
(311,499) (150,000) 161,500
(5,214,193) (11,396,272) (3,900,048)
243,796 (5,475,160) (5,463,179)
74,534,351 78,871,652 165,909,747
(40,100,214) (2,592,581) (31,319,415)
- - (51,363,345)
33,000 {2,000) (2,000}
- - (145,690,100)
(40,067,214} (2,594,581) (228,374,860)
(2,294 476) 1,942,515 4,758,474
(2,204,476) 1,942,515 4,758,474
32,172,661 78,219,586 {57,706,639)
237.842;702 295 549,341 295,549,341
270,015,363 373,768,927 237,842,702




GRAND PLAZA HOTEL CORPORATION

Cash Flow Statements

For the 2nd quarters ended June 30, 2007 and 2008
{In Philippine Pesos)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities
Prior period adjustments
Depreciation and amortization
Equity in net income of associated company
Provision for bad debts
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
{Increase) decrease in
Accrued interest receivable
Accounts receivable - trade
Accounts receivable - others
Deferred income tax
Advances o associated company
Advances to immediate holding company
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Creditable withholding tax
Other current assets
Increase (decrease) in
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Rental payable
Due to associated company
Refundable deposit
Deferred rental - Pagcor
Dividend payable
Income tax payable
Other current liabilities

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment - net
(Receipts)/Payments relating to other assets

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase/{Decrease) in reserves

Net increase in cash and short-term notes
Cash and short-term notes, Beginning

Cash and short-term notes, Ending

Unaudited Unaudited
2nd quarter 2nd quarter
June 30, 2007 June 30, 2006
36,398,880 42,501,999
(4,089) -
6,648,247 6,366,258
(88,733} (307,422)
17,746 335,006
{(14,579) (134,631)
4,849,164 454,246
(44,984) (336,793)
(2,534,857) (389,647)
(7,376,573) 6,073,242
182,132 371,489
(729,046} (384,103}
2,238,663 83,976
{29,319) {35,563)
(20,576,420) (21,761,809}
1,331,806 169,921
2,259 154 3,137,079
(1,915,043) {1,016,864)
(6,824,707) 9,214,060
1,642,968 (933,647)
{22,094 535) (22,094,518}
{311,499) -
4,464 418 2,274,608
251,143 {204,551)
(2,260,065) 23,382,295
{31,872,087) (2,093,480}
30,000 -
(31,842 ,097) (2,093,480)
(1,922,812) 971,058
(1,922.812) 971,058
{36,024,974) 22,259,864
306,040,337 351,509,063

270,015,363

373,768,927
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* Asterisks denote mandatory information

Name of Announcer * CITY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED

Company Registration No. 1963003162

Announcement submitted on behalf | CITY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED
of

Announcement is submitted with | CITY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED

respect to *

Announcement is submitted by * Enid Ling Peek Fong
Designation * Company Secretary
Date & Time of Broadcast 07-Aug-2007 17:12:09
Announcement No. 00069

>> Announcement Details
The details of the announcement start here ...

Announcement Title * | Announcement on Second Quarter and Half Year Results for the pericd ended 30 June 2007 of

Subsidiary Company, Millennlum & Copthorne Hotels plc

Description We attach herewith the second quarter and half year results announcement for the period
ended 30 June 2007 issued by Millennium & Copthome Hotels plc on 7 August 2007, for your
information.

Attachments:

@ MnC-Interim_results.pdf
Total size = 217K
(2048K size limit recommended)
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS PLC
SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR RESULTS TO 30 JUNE 2007

7 August 2007

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc today announces its second quarter and half year results to 30 June 2007. The Group has a
portfolio of 112 hotels located in the Americas, Europe, Middle-East, Asia and New Zealand.

Second quarter highlights

* Revenue up 8.9% to £169.3m'

*  Hotel operating profit margin improved by 2.1 percentage points to 22.7%
+  Hotel operating profit up 19.8% to £37.1m!

¢ Headline operating profit up 22.9% to £39.7m (2006: £32.3m) 2

¢ Headline profit before tax up 44.4% to £35.1m (2006: £24.3 m) 2

¢ Headline earnings per share up 50.0% to 9.3p {2006: 6.2p) ®

s Group RevPAR up by 9.3%!
Half year highlights

¢ Revenue up 8,9% to £322.4m!

*  Hotel operating profit margin improved by 2.1 percentage peints to 18.9%

s  Hotel operating profil up 22.7% to £58.9m!

* Headline operating profit up 22.5% to £63.7m {2006: £52.0m) 2

*  Headline profit before lax up 49.4% to £53.5m {2006: £35.8 m) 2

* Headline earnings per share up 61.7% to 13.1p (2006: 8.1p) ?

*  Group RevPAR up by 8.9%!

+  Interim dividend of 2.08p (2006: 2.08p)
Separately, the Board today announced that Peter Papadimitropoulos has left the company by mutual consent with immediate effect.
The search to appoint a new Chief Execulive is underway and will be led by the Nominations Committee. In the meantime, Wong
Hong Ren, an Executive Director of M&C, will act as Interim Group Chief Executive.
! At constant rafes of exchange (June 2007 exchange rates)
2 Adjusted to exclude other operating income
¥ Adjusted to exciude other operating income {net of tax) and effect of change in UK tax legislation to remove claw back on hotel tax allowances
Commenting today, Mr Kwek Leng Beng, Chairman said:
"Overall the half year resulls were strong, particularly in London, New York and Singapore where we have experienced buoyant
market conditions. As outlined in May, the group has focused on actively maximising yield management opportunities and | am
pleased to say that we have achiaved our targels so far. The third quarter has begun well with RevPAR up by 7.6% in the first 4 weeks
of July. The outlook for the year as a whole remains positive and our expectations are unchanged.”
Enquiries:
Wong Hong Ren, Interim Group Chief Executive +44 (0) 20 7872 2444
Robin Lee, Senior Vice President Finance
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc

Ben Foster/Charlie Watenphul
Financial Dynamics +44 (0) 20 7831 3113



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE HOTELS PLC

SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR RESULTS TO 30 JUNE 2007

FINANCIAL AND OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

Second quarter ended Half year ended
30 June 30 June

2007 2006 2007 2006
Financial information £m £m Em £m
Revenue 169.2 162.8 3224 3127
Operating profit 8.9 31.2 62.4 49.6
Profit before tax 35.4 24.8 55,2 36.1
Profit for the period 436 19.8 58.4 27.9
Basic earnings per share {(pence} 13.8p 6.3p 18.0p 8.2p
Performance reporting
Hotel operating profit 374 324 58.9 50.2
Headline operating profit 39.7 323 63.7 52.0
Headline profit before tax 351 243 83.5 5.8
Adjusted effective tax rate {excluding joint ventures and
associates)# 30.1% 33.0%
Headline earnings per share {pence) 9.3p 6.2p 13.1p 8.1p
Met debt 235.7 4480
Gearing (%) 18.0% 36.2%
Operational
RevPAR growth at constant rates of exchange* 9.3% 6.8% 8.9% B.4%
Occupancy movement (0.2%) 0.4% - 1.1%
Average room rate growth at constant rates of exchange* 9.6% 6.3% 8.9% 5.5%
Hotel revenue growth at constant rates of exchange* 10.1% 1.1% 10.4% 7.0%
Hdtel operaling profit growth at constant rates of exchange® 19.8% 8.9% 22.7% 11.0%

* At constant rates of exchange {June 2007 exchange rates)

# Excludes the impact of a change in UK tax legislation in respect of the removat of claw back on hotel tax allowances, and the impact of changes in

the tax rate on net opening deferred tax liabilities

Second quarter overview

For the second quarter to 30 June 2007, the Group recorded a pre tax profit of £35.4m (2006: £24.6m). Hotel operating profit
increased by £5.0m to £37.1m (2006: £32.1m}. Headline profil belore tax increased by £10.8m to £35.1m {2006: £24.3m). In addition
an overall 1ax credit of £8.2m resulted in basic earnings per share increasing by 119.0% to 13.8p (2006: 6.3p). Headline earnings per
share increased by 50.0% to 9.3p (2006: 6.2p). The tax credit is primarily attributable to a change in UK {ax legislation in respect of the

removal of claw back on hotel tax allowances.



SUMMARY OF HALF YEAR PERFORMANCE

For the half year to 30 June 2007, the Group recorded a pre tax profit of £55.2m (2006: £36.1m). Hotel operating profit increased by
£8.7m to £58.9m (2006: £50.2m}. Headline profit before tax increased by £17.7m to £63.5m (2006: £35.8m)

Group RevPAR increased by 8.9% to £50.70 at constant rates of exchange. Average room rates also grew by 8.9% to £69.26 and
occupancy remained flal. At constant rates of exchange, total hotel revenues increased by £29.4m and hotel operating profit by £8.7m
to £58.9m.

CDL Hospitality Trusts {CDLHT} has had a successful year and our share of profits belore other operating income was £3.6m. COLHT
made ils second acquisition with the purchase of the Novotel Clarke Quay in Singapore for 8$219.8m. This brings its portfolio of hotels
to six.

Other operaling income of the Group of £1.4m (2006: £0.3m)} comprises a profit of £0.4m on the disposal of shares in CDLHT and
following protracted negofiations, the release of a £1.0m property tax provision in the US set aside on the acquisition of Regal hotels in
1998,

Other operating income of associates and joint ventures of £0.3m represents the Group’s share of the revaluation of the Novotel Hotel
purchased by COLHT in June.

Taxation

Excluding the tax relating to joint ventures and associates, the Group has recorded a tax credit of £3.2m (2006: £8.2m tax expense).
This tax credit is primarily attributable to the deferred tax impact of a change in UK tax legislation in respect of the removal of claw
back of hotel tax allowances, resulting in an estimated attributed £13.0m tax credit, and also includes a £4.9m credit in respect of the
impact of reduced tax rates applied to brought forward net deferred tax liabilities.

Excluding the impact of the tax credil adjustments arising from changes in tax legistation and tax rates, the underlying income tax
expense for the period is calculated by applying an estimated average annual effeclive tax rate, in this case of 30.1%, to prolit before
tax for the period excluding the Group's share of joint venture prolits.

A lax charge of £0.6m {20086: £0.6m) relating to joint ventures and associates is included in the reported praofit before tax.

Dividend

The Board recommends an interim dividend of {2.08p] per share. The interim dividend will be paid on 10 October 2007 to those
shareholders on the register at the close of business on 17 August 2007. The ex-dividend date of the Company's shares is 15 August
2007.

Earnings per share

In addition to growth in profit before tax an overall tax credit of £3.2m resulted in basic earnings per share Increasing by 119.5% to
18.0p {2006: 8.2p}. Headline earnings per share increased by 61.7% to 13.1p (2008: 8.1p). The tax credit is primarily attributable to a
change in UK tax legislation in respect of the removal of claw back on hote! tax allowances.

PERFORMANCE BY REGION
UNITED STATES .

New York

Further measures were put in place at the beginning of this year to grow average room rates. As a result of these actions the
improvements seen in the first quarter have continued. Average rates increased by 14.8% to £140.47 (20086: £122.41). The growth in
average rates came at a cost of a 2.1 percentage point fall in occupancy to 83.7%. The net result was an 11.9% increase in RevPAR
to £117.57 (2006: £105.03). The resultant impact of this was to drive gross operating profit margins up 4.2 percentage points 1o 37.1%
(2006: 32.9%). The strongest performer in the region was the Millennium UN Plaza.

Regional US

RevPAR increased by 7.1% lo £32.57 (2006: £30.42). This was driven by a 7.5% increase in average room rates to £49.72 {2006:
£46.23) offsel by a 0.3 percentage points fall in occupancy to 65.5% (2006: 65.8%). The top five Millennium properties had RevPAR
growth between 12% and 19%, with three of these properties managing lo increase occupancy as well as rale.

EUROPE

London

London continues to achieve the strongest growth in our geographical regions. RevPAR increased by 13.8% to £78.34 (2006: £68.85)
on the back of high demand with a 15.0% increase in average room rates and a 0.9 percentage points decrease in occupancy to
84.1%. The stronges! growth has been at the Millennium Gloucester which underwent a 142 room refurbishment in the first four
months of 2006. The improvement is a combination of both the increased inventory available this year and a better praduct. We
restructured the business mix at the Copthorne Tara last year. This had a negative impact in 2006, but the fruits of this restructuring
can be seen in its double digit growth this year.




Rest of Europe
RevPAR increased by 1.19% to £52.64 (2006: £52.05) driven by rate growth of 2.8% from £71.30 lg £73.31 and occupancy levels
which fell from 73.0% to 71.8%.

Regional UK

RevPAR increased 5.2% to £55.64 driven by a 1.5 percentage point increase in occupancy to 77.4% (2006: 75.9%) and a 3.1%
increase in rate o £71.88 (2006; £69.69). The strongest growth was in Glasgow & Aberdeen whilst our two Gatwick properties also
grew RevPAR by more than 10%. Copthorne Gatwick has had a 129 room refurbishment this year which together with a change in
marketing strategy has contributed to this growth,

France & Germany

Our presence in these two countries remains limited to four hotels. RevPAR fell by 5.6% to £47.89. This year started with a weak set
of results in our two German properties which has conlinued into the second gquarter. As a result, we have sold 13.2% fewer rooms
which, when combined with a small fall in rate, has resulted in a hall year RevPAR decrease of 14.7%. QOur two French properties
showed a 3.8% increase in RevPAR.

ASIA

RevPAR increased by 13.5% to £46.98 (2006: £41.41) driven by occupancy growth of 2.4 percentage points to 75.8% and a 9.9%
increase in average room rates to £61.98 (2006: £56.42).

Singapore

The Grand Copthorne Waterfront is now included in the statistics for this region and strong growth continues in this buoyant market.
On a like-for-like basis, RevPAR increased 28.8% to £50.26 (2006: £39.03) driven by a 4.9 percentage points increase in occupancy
1o 85.5% and a 21.4% growth in average room rates 1o £58.78 (2006: £48.43).

Rest of Asia

RevPAR figures in the rest of Asia have been impacted by the refurbishment works at the Regent Kuala Lumpur. RevPAR increased
by 3.5% to £44.51 (2008; £43.01). On a like-for-like basis excluding the Regent Hotel, RevPAR increased by 7.5% to £48.89 (2006:
£45.47), There was positiva growth in the remaining properties within Asia with noteworthy performances in Seoul, Jakarta, Manila and
Penang. Much of the occupancy increase has arisen in the Millennium Seou! Hilton, now benefiting from the addition of a state run
Casino.

NEW ZEALAND

In New Zealand, where we operate under the Millennium, Copthorne and Kingsgate brands, RevPAR has remained more or less flat at
£29.33. Occupancy fell by 1.0 percentage point to 70.2% (2006: 71.2%) and average rate increased by 1.1% to £41.78 (2006:
£41.33). The Oriental Bay has baen undergoing a major refurbishment and has now been re-branded a Copthorne. If this property and
that of the Kingsgate Greenlane whose lease expired in April 2007 were to be excluded from the statisiics, RevPAR would have
increased by 0.7%.

Seven Zenith apartments have been sold this year for a profit of £0.7m.

REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Overall the half year results were strong, particularly in London, New York and Singapore where we have experienced buoyant market
conditions. As outlined in May, the group has focused on actively maximising yield management opportunities and | am pleased to say
that we have achigved our targets so far. The third quarter has begun well with RevPAR up by 7.6% in the first 4 weeks of July. The
outtook for the year as a whole remains positive and our expectations are unchanged.

Kwek Leng Beng
Chairman
6 August 2007




Consclidated income statement {unaudited)
for the half year ended 30 June 2007

Half year Half year Year
Notes ended ended ended
30 June 30June 31 December
2007 2006 2006
Em £m £m
Revenue 2 322.4 312.7 646.3
Cost of sates {135.7) (140.0) (277.4)
Gross profit 186.7 172.7 368.9
Administrative expenses (132.0) {125.5) (261.5}
Other operating income 3 1.4 0.3 21.68
Group operating profit 56.1 47.5 129.0
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 6.3 241 25.2
nalysed between share of:
perating profit before other income 9.0 4.8 13.8
ther operating income 0.3 - 17.7
nterest, tax and minority interests 4 {3.0) {(2.7) {6.3)
Operating profit 62.4 49.6 154.2
Analysed between:;
Headllne operating profit 2 63.7 52.0 124.7
Other operating income - Group 3 1.4 0.3 216
Other operating income - Shara of joint ventures and
Associates 0.3 - 7.7
mpairment - - (3.5)
Share of interest, tax and minority interests of joint ventures
gnd associates (3.0) 2.7} (6.3)
Finance income 4.5 25 58
Finance expense {(11.7) {16.0) (29.8)
Profit before tax 55.2 36.1 130.2
Income tax credit/(expense) 5 3.2 (8.2) (22.1)
Profit for the period 58.4 27.9 108.1
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 52.7 23.7 1001
Minority interests 5.7 4.2 8.0
58.4 27.9 108.1
Basic earnings per share {pence) 6 18.0 8.2 345
Diluted earnings per share {pence) 17.9 82 34.4

The financial results above all derive from continuing activities.




Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense {unaudited)
for the half year ended 30 June 2007

Half year Half year Year

ended ended ended

30 June 30 June 31 December

2007 2006 2006

£m £m £m

Foreign exchange translation differences (1.9) (40.2) {84.2)

Share of associates other reserve movements - - (2.3)

Actuarial losses arising in respect of defined benelit pension schemes (1.7) - (1.4)

Taxation credit arising on defined benefit pension schemes 0.5 - 0.4

Taxation credit arising in respect of previously revalued property 2.4 - 2.2

Income and expense recognised directly In equity {0.7) {40.2) {85.3)

Profit for the period 58.4 27.9 108.1

Total recognised Income and expense for the perlod 57.7 (12.3) 228
Aftributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 47.6 {6.8} 251

Minority interests 10.1 {5.5} {2.3)

Total recognised income and expense for the perlad 57.7 {12.3} 22.8




Consolidated balance sheet {unaudited)
as at 30 June 2007

As at As at As at
Notes 30 June 30 June 31 December
2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m
Non-current asseis
Property, plant and equipment 1,612.6 1,863.4 1,6124
Lease premium prepayment 74.0 82.8 74.86
Investment properties 48.4 46.7 49.6
Investments in joint ventures and associates 138.7 29.8 115.5
Loans due from joint ventures and associates 49 25.8 26.5
Other financial assels 2.9 2.6 3.2
1,881.5 2,051.1 1,881.8
Current assets
Inventories 4.3 4.1 46
Development properties 7.0 60.8 68.6
Lease premium prepayment 1.2 1.7 1.3
Trade and other receivables 61.3 56.0 57.8
Other financial assets 41 6.9 7.2
Cash and cash equivalents 162.4 121.8 162.3
304.3 251.3 iR
Total assets 2,185.8 23024 2,183.6
Non-current liabilitles
Interest-bearing lozins, bonds and borrowings (341.0) (482.4) {283.1)
Employee benefits (16.5) {15.9) (15.0}
Provisions (1.2) (1.5) (1.3}
Other non-current liabilities (6.5) (6.7) (6.8}
Deferred tax liabilities (201.7) {235.8) (224.6)
(566.9) {742.1) {530.8}
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing foans, bonds and borrowings (57.1) (87.4) {139.6)
Trade and other payables (98.3) (100.9) (102.6)
Provisions (0.4} (0.4} (0.4}
Income taxes payable {21.4) (14.7) {1B.1}
(177.2) _ (203.4) {260.7)
Total liabilities (744.1) (945.5} (791.5)
Net assels 1,441.7 1,356.9 1,392.1
Equity
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,310.8 1,237.1 1,269.1
Minarity interests 130.9 119.8 123.0
Total equity 8 1,441.7 1,366.9 1,392.1




Consolidated statement of cash flows (unaudited)
for the half year ended 30 June 2007

Half year Half year Year
ended ended ended
30 June 30.June 31 December
2007 2008 2006
£m £m £m
Cash tiows from operating aclivities
Profit for the period 58.4 279 108.1
Adjustments for.
Depreciation and amortisation 14.8 18.1 345
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates (6.3) 2.1) (25.2)
Impairment losses for property, plant and equipment - a5
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipmenit - {0.3) {11.2)
Profit on sale of shares in associates (0.4) - -
Revaluation of investment properties - - (4.9
Employee stock options 0.4 04 06
Finance income (4.5) (2.5) (5.8)
Finance expense 1.7 16.0 29.8
Income tax (credit)/expense {3.2) 8.2 22.1
Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 70.9 65.7 151.5
Increase in inventories, trade and other receivables {1.4) (1.5) (5.1)
(Increase)/decrease in development properties {0.6) 1.6 {2.5)
(Decrease)fincrease in trade and other payables (2.2) 2.7 0.9
Increase/{decrease) in provisions and employee benefits 1.4 (0.2) {0.3)
Cash generated from operatlons 68.1 68.3 144.5
Interest paid (11.2) {16.5) (28.9)
Interest received 3.6 39 7.8
Income taxes paid (7.9) {B.6) {16.3)
Net cash from operating activities 52.6 4714 107.1
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and investment
properties 0.1 0.2 210.8
Investment in financial assets - (4.7) (3.1)
Proceeds from disposal of joint venture - 23 4.0
Proceeds from the sale of shares in associates 1.3 -
Dividends received from associates 2.7 -
Increase in joint ventures and associales (0.6) - (81.3)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment {29.8) (14.0) (34.5)
Net cash flow from investing activities {26.3) (16.2) 95.8
Balance carried torward 26.3 30.9 202.9




Consolidated statement of cash flows {unaudited) (continued)
tor the half year ended 30 June 2007

Half year Half year Year
ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 31 December
2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m
Balance brought forward 26.3 30.9 202.9
Cash flows trom financing actlivities
Proceeds from the issue of share capital 1.2 0.5 2.2
Repayment of borrowings (110.1) (78.8) (205.0)
Drawdown of borrowings 92.4 80.7 79.7
Payment of finance lease obligations (1.0) (1.0) (2.0)
Loan arrangement fees (0.1) {0.6) (0.6)
Dividends paid to minorities {2.2) (2.2} (2.2)
Dividends paid {o equity holders of the parent {7.6) {7.3) (9.1}
Net cash from flnancing activitles {27.4) (8.5) {137.0)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents {1.1) 224 65.9
Cash and cash equivalents al beginning of period 161.5 103.7 103.7
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 1.5 (5.3) (8.1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 161.9 120.8 161.5
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents shown in the balance sheet 162.4 121.8 162.3
Overdraft bank accounts included in borrowings {0.5) {1.0) (0.9)
Cash and cash equlvalents for cash flow statement purposes 161.9 120.8 161.5




Notes to the half year results announcement (unaudited)

1. General Information
Basls of preparation

The half year financial statements for Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc {'the Company’) to 30 June 2007 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as ‘the Group') and the Group's interests in jointly controlled and associate entities.

These primary statements and selected noles comprise the unaudited interim consolidated financial results of the Group for the half
years ended 30 June, 2007 and 2006 together with the audited results for the year ended 31 December 2006. These half year resulls
do not comprise statutory accounts within the meaning of Section 240 of the Companies Act 1985.

The comparative figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2006 have been extracted from the Group's statutory accounts for
that financial year but do not constitute those accounts. Those accounts have been reporied on by the Company's auditors and (i) wers
unqualified, (i) did not include a reference to any matters to which the auditors drew attention by way of emphasis without qualitying
their report, and (i} did not contain a statement under section 237(2) or (3) of the Companies Act 1985. The consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2006 are available from the Company's website
www.millenniumhotels.com.

The interim financial information has been prepared applying the accounting policies and presentalion that were applied in the
preparation of the Group’s published consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006,

The half year financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 August 2007.
Use of adjusted measures

A number of measures quoted in this hall year resulls announcement are ‘'non-GAAP' measures. The directors believe these measures
provide a more meaningful anatysis of trading results of the Group and are consistent with the way financial performance is measured
by management. These include hotel operating profit, headline aperating profit, headline profit before 1ax, headline earnings per share,
net debt and free cash flow. These measures are used for internal performance analysis and are useful in connection with discussion
with the investment analyst community. They are not defined by Adopted IFRSs and therefore may not be directly comparable with
other companies’ adjusted performance measures. It is not intended to be a substitute for, or superior to Adopted IFRSs performance
measures.

The adjustments made to reported profit before tax are:

Fair value adjustments of investmant property

Business interruption insurance proceeds

Gains/losses on disposal of property

Impairment

Share of other operating income, impairment, interest, tax and minority interests of joint ventures and associates



Notes to the half year results announcement (unaudited)

2. Segmental analysis

The following segmental analysis is not intended to be a full statulory disclosure.

Half year ended 30 June 2007

New Regional Rest of Central Total

York US London  Europe Asla Australasia costs Group
Revenue £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Hotel 49.0 539 43.9 47.4 94.2 22.7 - 311.1
Property operations - 0.9 - - 0.7 9.7 - 11.3
Total 49.0 54.8 43.9 47.4 94.9 32.4 - 322.4
Hotel gross operating profit 18.2 12.0 21,6 14.4 39.1 9.5 - 114.8
Hotel fixed charges® (7.5) (8.8) (8.4) (8.4) (18.6) {4.2) - (55.9)
Hotel operating profit 10.7 a2 13.2 6.0 20.5 53 - 58.9
Property operations operating profil - - - - 0.3 4.2 - 4.5
Central costs - - - - - - (8.7) (8.7)
Share of joint ventures and
associates operating profit - - - - 9.0 - - 9.0
Headline operating profit 10.7 3.2 13.2 6.0 20.8 8.5 8.7 63.7
Other operating income - Group - - - - 04 - 1.0 1.4
Other operating income - Share of
joint ventures and associates - - - - 0.3 - - 0.3
Share of interest, tax and minority
intgrests of joint ventures and
associates - - - - (3.0) - - {3.0)
Operating profit 10.7 3.2 13.2 6.0 27.5 9.5 (7.7) 62.4
Net financing costs (7.2)
Profit before tax 55,2

Half year ended 30 June 2006
New Regional Rest of Central Total
York US London  Europe Asia  Australasia costs Group

Revenue £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Hotel 49.0 57.3 38.2 47.9 81.8 23.1 - 298.3
Property operations - 1.3 - - 0.7 12.4 14.4
Total 49.0 58.6 39.2 47.9 B2.5 35.5 312.7
Hotel gross operating profit 16.1 12.2 17.6 13.8 30.0 9.9 99.6
Hotel fixed charges* {9.3) (9.3) (6.7) (7.8 {11.7) (4.6} (49.4)
Hotel operating profit 6.8 29 10.9 6.0 18.3 53 50.2
Property operations operating profil - 0.3 - 0.3 4.0 4.6
Central cosis - - {7.6) (7.6}
Share of joint ventures and associates
operating profit - 4.8 4.8
Headline operating profit 6.8 3.2 10.9 6.0 23.4 9.3 {7.6) 52.0
Other operating income - Group - - - 0.3 - 03
Share of interest, tax and minority
interests of joint veniures and
associates - - - (2.7} (2.7}
Operating profit 6.8 32 10.9 6.0 21.0 9.3 (7.6) 49.5
Net financing costs (13.5)

Profit before tax

36.1



Notes to the half year results announcement (unaudited)

2. Segmental analysis (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2006

New Regional Rest of Central Total

York US London  Europe Asia  Australasia costs Group
Revenue £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Hotel 103.1 117.0 84.2 96.8 1751 44.9 - 621.1
Property operations - 2.3 - - 1.4 21.5 - 25.2
Total 103.1 119.3 84.2 96.8 176.5 66.4 - 646.3
Hotel gross operating profit 38.9 27.7 40.1 28.9 69.4 18.8 - 2238
Hotel fixed charges* {16.3} (18.5} (13.8) (16.8)  (29.8) (8.5} - (103.5)
Hotel operating profit 22,6 9.2 26.3 12.3 39.6 10.3 - 120.3
Property operations operating profit - 0.2 - - 0.6 8.0 - 8.8
Centraf costs - - - - - (18.2) (18.2}
Share of joint ventures and
associales aperating profit - - - - 13.8 - - 13.8
Headline operating profit 226 9.4 26.3 12.3 54.0 18.3 (18.2) 124.7
Other operating income - Group 5.5 3.1 - - 13.0 - - 216
Other operating income - Share of
associates and joint ventures - - - 17.7 - 17.7
Impairment (0.6) - (2.9) - - - (3.5)
Share of interest, tax and minority
interests of joint ventures and
associates - - - (6.3) - - (6.3)
OQperating profil 28.1 11.9 26.3 9.4 78.4 18.3 {18.2} 154.2
Net financing costs {24.0)
Profit before tax 130.2

* 'Hotel fixed charges’ include depreciation, amortisation of lease prepayments, property rent, taxes and insurance, operating lease

rentals and management Ises




Notes to the half year results announcement (unaudited)

2. Segmental analysis (continued)

Segmental assets and liabllities

Regional Rest of Total
New York US London Europe Asia  Australasia Group
Half year — 3¢ June 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007
£m £m £m £m £m £Em £m
Hoie! operating assets 282.1 240.3 456.1 214.9 463.2 104.6 1,761.2
Hotel operaling liabilities (59.7) (54.1) {53.0) (33.7)  (126.3) (11.1) (337.9)
Inavestiments in joint ventures and
associates - - - - 138.1 - 138.1
Loans to joint ventures - - - - 4.9 - 4.9
Total hotel operating net assets 222.4 186.2 403.1 181.2 479.9 93.5 1,566.3
Property operating assets - 43.2 - - 333 43.3 119.8
Property operating liabilities - (7.3) - - {0.6) {0.8) (8.7)
Total property operating net assels - 359 - - 32.7 42.5 111.1
Net debt (235.7)
Net assels 1,441.7
Regional Rest of
New York US London Europe Asia Australasia Total Group
Half year ~ 30 June 2006 2006 2006 2006 2006 2006 2006 2006
. £m £m £€m £m £m £m £m
Hotel operating assets 306.4 280.3 456.4 225.8 660.4 87.3 2,016.6
Hotel operating liabilities (72.5) (51.1) {66.8) (43.9) (118.8) {13.8} {366.9)
Investments in joint ventures and
associates - - - 298 - 29.8
Loans to joint veniures - - - 25.8 - 25.8
Total hotel operaling net assets 233.9 229.2 389.8 181.9 597.2 73.5 1,705.3
Property operating assets - 40.9 - - 28.7 38.9 108.5
Property operating liabilities - {7.4) - (0.6) {0.9) {8.9)
Total property operating net assets - 33.5 - - 28.1 38.0 99.6
Net debt {448.0)
Net assets 1,356.9
Regional Rest of
New York US London Europe Asia  Australasia Total Group
Year — 31 December 2006 2006 2006 2006 2006 2006 2006 2006
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Hotel operating assets 292.3 2359 452.0 216.1 468.8 97.4 1,762.5
Hote! operating liabilities (60.1) (64.7) (67.0) (36.1)  (126.8) (11.6) (366.3)
tnvestments in joint ventures and
associates - 115.5 - 115.5
Loans to jeint ventures - 26.5 - 26.5
Total hotel operating net assets 232.2 171.2 385.0 180.0 484.0 85.8 1,538.2
Property operating assets 433 339 42.0 119.2
Property operating liabilities {3.7) - - {0.4) (0.8) (4.9)
Total property operating net asseis - 39.6 - - 33.5 41.2 114.3
Net debt (260.4)
Net assets 1,392.1



Notes to the half year results announcement (unaudited)

3. Other operating income

Half year Half year Year
ended ended ended
30 June 30June 31 December
2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m
Release of property tax provision set aside on acquisition of Regal hotels in
1999 1.0 - -
Profit on disposal of shares in CDLHT 0.4 - .
Profit on sale and leaseback of three Singapore hotels — Orchard Hotel,
Copthorne Kings Hotels and M Hotel - - 10.1
Changes in fair value upon revaluation of invesiment property - - 4.9
Business interruption insurance proceeds - - 55
Other - 0.3 i.1
1.4 0.3 21.6
4. Share of joint venturas and associates interest, tax and minority interests
Half year Half year Year
ended ended ended
30 June 30June 31 December
2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m
Interest (0.9) {0.8) {1.4)
Tax {0.6) {0.6) (1.8}
Minority interests {1.5) {1.3) {3.1}
(3.0} {2.7) {6.3)
5. Income tax (crediti/expense
Half year. Half year Year
ended ended ended
30 June 30June 31 December
2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m
UK {15.8) 1.0 0.7
Quergeas 12.6 7.2 214
Total income tax {credit)/expense in income statement (3.2) 8.2 22.1




Notes to the half year results announcement (unaudited)

5. Income tax (credit)/expense (continued)

Half year Half year Year
ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 31 December
2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m
Current tax
Corporation tax charge for the period 1.4 6.7 18.2
Adjustment in respect of prior years - (2.1} " {6.6)
Total current tax expanse 11.4 4.6 11.6
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences 1.7 3.3 0.3
(Reduction)/iincrease in tax rate (4.9) 0.1 0.2
Benefits of tax losses recognised 1.7 - 9.0
{Over)/under provision in respect of prior years {13.1) 0.2 1.0
Total deferred tax (credit)/expense {14.6) 3.6 10.5
Total income tax (credit)/expense in the income statement (3.2) 8.2 22.1
Half year Haif year Year
ended ended ended
30 June 30June 31 December
Income tax reconciliation 2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m
Profit before tax in income statement 55.2 36.1 130.2
Less share of profit in joint ventures and associates (6.3) (2.1) {25.2}
48.9 34.0 105.0
Income tax on ordinary activities at the standard rate of UK tax of 30% 14,7 10.2 K3 )
Effects of:
Permanent differences (1.4) (1.2) (5.5}
Non-utilisation of tax losses arising in year 0.3 0.3 0.5
Utilisation of brought forward tax losses (0.1) - {0.6)
Higher/(lower) rates on overseas earnings 0.3 01 (1.2)
Overseas tax suffered 1.0 0.6 1.6
Effect of change in tax rates on opening deferred taxes (4.9} o1 0.3
Effect of change in UK tax legislation in respect of the removal of claw
back on hotel tax allowances {13.0} - -
Other adjustments 1o tax charge in respect of pricr years {0.1) (1.9) (5.6)
Unrecognised deferred tax assels - 1.1
Total income 1ax (credit)/expense in the income statement (3.2) 8.2 22.1

Excluding the tax retating to joint ventures and assocciates, the Group has recorded a tax credit of £3.2m (half year ended 30 June
2006 a £8.2m tax expense and for the year ended 31 December 2006 a £22.1m tax expense). This tax credit is primarily
attributable to the deferred tax impact of a change in UK tax legistation in respect of the removal of claw back on hotel tax
allowances, resulling in an estimated attributed £13.0m tax credit, and also includes a £4.9m credil in respect of the impact of
reduced tax rates applied to brought forward net delerred tax liabilities.

Excluding the impact of the tax credit adjustments arising from changes in tax legislation and tax rates, the underlying income tax
expense for the period is calculated by applying an estimated average annual effective lax rate, in this case of 30.1%, to profit
before tax for the period excluding the Group's share of joint venture profits.

A tax charge of £0.6m (2006: £0.6m) relating to joint ventures and associates is included in the reported profit before tax.



Notes to the half year results announcement (unaudited)

6. Earnings per share

Half year Hail year Year
ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 31 December
2007 2006 2006
Basic
Profit for period attributable to holders of the parent (£m) 52.7 23.7 100.1
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (m} 292.8 238.8 289.9
Basic earnings per share (pence) 18.0 8.2 34.5
Diluted
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (m) 293.7 289.8 290.6
Diluted earnings per share (pence) 17.9 8.2 34.4
Headline earnings per share
Profit for the period attributable to holders of the parent {(Em) 527 23.7 100.1
Adjustment 1o exclude:
- Other operating income (net of tax) (€Em) (1.0 (0.2) (22.4)
- Impairment (nat of tax) (£m) - - 33
- Share of associates other operating income (nil tax) (€m)} {0.3) - (17.7)
- Changs in UK tax legislation on hotel tax allowances (Em) {13.0) - -
Adjusted profit for the period attributable to holders of the parent (Em) 38.4 23.5 63.3
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (m) 292.8 288.8 289.9
Adjusted earnings per share {pence) 13.1 8.1 2.8
7. Dividends
Dividends have been recognised within equity as follows:
Half year Half year Year
ended ended ended
30 June 30June 31 December
2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m
Final ordinary dividend paid for 2006 of 6.42p (for 2005: 5.62p) 18.7 16.2 16.2
Interim ordinary dividend paid for 2006 of 2.08p (for 2005: 2.08p) - - 6.1
187 16.2 223
Final special ordinary dividend paid for 2006 of 4.00p (for 2005: Nil) 11.7 -
30.4 16.2 22.3

After the balance sheet date, the Direclors have declared an interim dividend of [2.08p} per share {2006 interim dividend: 2.08p)
payable on 10 October 2007 to the holders of relevant shares on the register at 17 August 2007. The ex-dividend dale of the
Company’s shares is 15 August 2007. The interim dividend amounts to £6.2m {2006: £6.1m) and wili be reflected in the financial

statements in the second half of the financial year.

The Directors again offer the option of a scrip dividend reinvestment plan. Those shareholders who have not elecled to participate
in this plan, and who would like to participale with respect to the 2007 interim dividend, may do so by confacting Lloyds TSB
Registrars direct on 0870 2413018. The last day for election for the interim dividend is 26 September 2007 and any requests

should be made in good time ahead of that date.



Notes to the half year results announcement (unaudited)

8. Statement of changes to total equity

Half year Half year Year

ended ended ended

30 June 30June 31 December

2007 2006 2006

£m £m £m

Total recognised income and expense for the pericd 57.7 {12.3) 22.8
Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent (30.4) {16.2) (22.3)
Issue of shares in lieu of dividends 22,8 8.9 13.2
Dividends paid to minority interests {2.2) (2.2) (2.2)
Share oplions exercised 1.2 0.5 2.2
Equity settled iransactions 0.5 0.4 0.6
Net increase/(decrease) in total equity 49.6 {20.9) 14.3
Opening total equily 1,392.1 1,377.8 1,377.8
Closing total equity 1,441.7 1,356.9 1,392.1




Notes to the half year results announcement (unaudited)
9. Non-GAAP measures

Headline operating profit

Headline aperating prafit is the Group's measure of the underlying profit before interest and tax. it includes the operating results af joint ventures and associates but excludes other

operating income {of Group and share af assaciates} which is normally a ane-off item,

Half year  Half year Year
ended ended ended
30 June 30June 31 December
2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m
Profit before tax 55.2 36.1 130.2
Adjusted to exclude:
Fair value adjustments of investment property - - (4.9)
Business interruption insurance proceeds - . (5.5)
Net gain on disposal of property - sale and leaseback of 3 Singapore hotels - {10.1)
- other - {0.3) {1.1)
Profit on disposal of shares in COLHT {0.4)
Release of property tax provision set aside on acquisition of Regal hotels in 1999 (1.0) - -
Share of associates (CDLHT) fair value adjustments to invesiment property (0.3) - (17.7)
mpairment - - 35
Headline profit before tax 53.5 35.8 94.4
Add back:
hare of results of joint ventures and associates
- interesl 0.8 0.8 1.4
- taxation 0.6 0.6 1.8
- minority interests 1.5 1.3 31
Net financing costs 7.2 i3.5 24.0
Headline operating profit 63.7 52.0 124.7
As at As at As at
30 June 30June 31 December
Net Debt 2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents (as presented in the consolidated balance sheet) 161.9 120.8 161.5
Bank overdrafts 0.5 1.0 0.8
Cash and cash equivalents (as presented in the consolidated balance sheel) 162.4 121.8 162.3
Interest-bearing loans, bonds and barrowings - Non-current (341.0) {482.4) {283.1)
- Current {57.1) (87.4) {139.6)
Net debt {235.7) (448.0) {260.4)
Gearing (%) 18.0% 36.2% 20.5%

{0, Subseguent events




On 12 July 2007, the Group was allocated an additional 41,213,790 new stapled securities of CDL Hospitality Trusts {'CDLHT') costing
S5$100.0m (£32.8m) under a three for every 20 existing stapled preferential offering of 107,162,695 new stapled securities. This now
takes the Group's cost of investment in COLHT to £98.4m for a 38.5% interest,

Independent review report to Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc
Introduction

We have been instructed by the company lo review the financial information for the half year ended 30 June 2007 which comprises the
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of recognised income and expense, consolidaled batance sheel, consolidated
statement of cash flows and the related notes (1) to (10),

We have read the other information contained in the interim report and censidered whether it contains any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the financial information.

This report is made solely to the company in accordance with the terms of our engagement to assist the company in meeting the
requirements of the Listing Rufes of the Financial Services Authority. Our review has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company those matters we are required lo state to it in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company for our review work, for this report, or for the conclusions we
have reached.

Directors’ responsibilities

The interim report, including the financial information contained therein, is the responsibility of, and has been approved by, the
directors. The directars are responsible for preparing the interim report in accordance with the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority which require that the accounting policies and presentation applied to the interim figures should be consistent with those
applied in preparing the preceding annual accounts except where any changes, and the reasons for them, are disclosed.

Review work performed

We conducted our review in accordance with guidance contained in Bulletin 1899/4 Review of interim financial information issued by
the Auditing Practices Board for use in the UK. A review consists principally of making enquiries of group management and applying
analytical procedures to the financial information and underlying financial data and, based thereon, assessing whether the accounting
policies and presentation have been consistently applied unless otherwise disclosed. A review excludes audit procedures such as
tests of controls and verification of assets, liabilities and transactions. it is substantially less in scope than an audit performed in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Irefand) and therefore provides a lower level of assurance than an audit.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit apinion on the financtal information.

Review conclusion

On the basis of our review we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the financial information as
presented for the hall year ended 30 June 2007.

KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants

8 Salisbury Square

London
EC4Y BBB

Date: 8 August 2007



APPENDIX 1: Key operating statistics (unaudited)
for the half year ended 30 June 2007

Half year ended Hali year ended Half year ended
30 June 2007 30 June 2006 30 June 2006
Reported Constant Reported
currency currency currency
Occupancy %
New York 83.7 85.8
Regional US 65.5 65.8
Total US 69.7 70.4
London 84.1 85.0
Rast of Europe 7.8 73.0
Total Europe 77.3 78.3
Asia 75.8 73.4
Australasia 70.2 71.2
Total Group 73.2 73.2
Average Room Rate (£)
New York 140.47 122.41 135.84
Regional US 49.72 46.23 51.30
Total US 74.92 67.68 75.11
London 93.15 81.00 81.00
Rest of Europe 73.31 71.30 71.88
Total Europe 82.89 75.97 76.27
Asia 61.98 56.42 650.87
Ausiralasia 41.78 41.33 " 40.86
Total Group 69.26 63.59 67.36
RevPAR (£)
New York 17.57 105.03 116.55
Regional US 32.57 30.42 33.76
Totat US 52.22 47.65 52.88
London 78.34 68.85 68.85
Rest of Europe 52.64 52.05 52.47
Total Europe 64.07 59.48 59.72
Asia 46.98 41.41 44.68
Australasia 29.33 29.43 29.09
Total Group 50.70 46.55 49.31
Gross Operating Profit Margin (%)
New York 371 329
Regional US 22.3 21.3
Total US 29.3 26.6
London 49,2 44.9
Rest of Europe 30.4 28.8
Total Europe 39.4 36.1
Asia 41.5 36.7
Australasia 41.9 42.9
Total Group 36.9 33.4

For comparability the 30 June 2006 Average Room Rate and RevPAR have been translated at 30 June 2007 exchange rates.




APPENDIX 2: Consolidated income statement {unaudited)

for the second quarter ended 30 June 2007

Second quarter

Second quarter

ended ended
30 June 30 June
2007 2006
£m £m
Revenue 169.3 162.8
Cost of sales {68.3) {70.2)
Gross profit 101.0 828
Administrative expenses (65.7) {62.6)
Other operating incorne - 0.3
Group operating profit 35.3 30.3
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates .6 0.9
Analysed between share of:
Operating profit before cther Income 44 2.3
Other operating income 0.3 -
Interest, tax and minority interests (1.1) {1.4)
Operating profit 389 31.2
Analysed between: .
Headline operating profit 39.7 323
Other aperating income - Group - 0.3
fOther operating income - Share of joint ventures and associates 0.3 -
Share of interest, 1ax and minority interests of joint ventures and
Associates {1.1) {1.4)
Finance income 23 1.3
Finance expense {5.8) (7.9)
Profit before tax 54 246
Income tax credit/(expense) 8.2 (4.8)
Profit for the period 43.6 19.8
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 40.5 1841
Minority interesis 3 1.7
43.6 19.8
Basic earnings per share (pence) 13.8 6.3
Diluted earnings per share (pence) 13.7 6.3

The financial results above all derive from continuing activities,

il



APPENDIX 3: Segmental analysis for the second quarter ended 30 June 2007

Second quarter ended 30 June 2007

New Regional Rest of Central Total
York US London Europe Asia Australasia costs Group
Revenue £m £m £m £m f£m £m £m £m
Hotel 27.6 30.4 23.4 24.0 48.9 9.3 - 163.6
Property operations - 0.4 - - 0.4 4.9 - 5.7
Total 27.6 30.8 23.4 240 493 14.2 - 169.3
Hotel gross operating profit 12.0 8.8 12.0 7.3 1.7 3.0 - 64.8
Hote! fixed charges® (4.0} (4.5) (3.5) (4.3) (9.6) {1.8) - {27.7)
Hotel operating profit 8.0 4.3 8.5 3.0 121 1.2 - 37.1
Property operations operating profit - - - - 0.1 2.1 - 2.2
Central costs - - - - - - (4.0) (4.0
Share of joint ventures and
associates operating profit - - - - 4.4 - - 4.4
Headtine operating profit 8.0 4.3 8.5 30 166 3.3 (4.0) 39.7
Other gperating income - Share of
joint ventures and associates - - - - 0.3 - - 0.3
Share of interest, tax and minority
interests of joint ventures and
associales - - - - (1) - - {1.1)
Operating profit 8.0 4.3 8.5 3.0 15.8 3.3 (4.0) 38.9
Net financing cosls (3.5)
Profit before tax 35.4

Second quarter ended 30 June 2008

New  Regional Rest of Central Total

York US Llondon Europe Asia  Australasia cosls Group
Revenue £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Hotel 27.6 KIR.] 21.2 245 41.8 9.3 - 156.2
Property operations - 0.6 - - 0.4 5.6 6.6
Total 27.6 32.4 21.2 24.5 42.2 14.9 - 162.8
Hotel gross operating profit 11.0 9.0 9.9 7.2 16.2 33 - 56.6
Hote! lixed charges” {5.2) {4.8) {3.3) (3.4} {5.7) {2.1) - (24.5)
Hotel cperating profit 5.8 42 6.6 3.8 10.5 1.2 . 3241
Property operations operating profit - 0.2 - - 0.1 1.8 - 2.1
Central costs - - - - . - (4.2) (4.2}
Share of joint ventures and
associales operating profit - - - - 2.3 - - 2.3
Headline operating profit 58 4.4 6.6 3.8 12.9 3.0 (4.2) 323
Other operating income - Group - - - - 0.3 - - 0.3
Share of interest, tax and minority
interests of joint ventures and
associates - - - - (1.4} - - (1.4)
Operating profit 5.8 4.4 6.6 38 11.8 3.0 {4.2) 31.2

Net financing costs . (6.6)




Profit before tax

APPENDIX 4: Non-GAAP measures for the second quarter ended 30 June 2007

Headline operating profit

24.6

Headline operating profit is the Group’s measure of the underlying profit before interest and tax. It includes the operating results of
joint ventures and associates but excludes other operaling income (of Group and share of assaciates) which is normally a one-off item.

Second quarter

Second quarter

ended ended
30 June 30 June
2007 2006
£m £m
Profit before tax 354 24.6
Adjusted to exclude:
Other operating income ~ Group - (0.3}
Share of associates {CDLHT) fair value adjustments to investment
roperly (0.3) -
Headline profit before tax 35.1 24.3
Add back:
Share of results of associates and joint venlures
- interest 0.1 04
- taxation 0.3 0.3
- minorily interests 0.7 0.7
Net financing costs 35 6.6
Headline operating profit 39.7 32.3

A}



APPENDIX 5: Key operating statistics (unaudited)
for the second quarter ended 30 June 2007

Second quarter ended

Second quarter ended

Second quarter ended

30 June 2007 30 June 2006 30 June 2006

Reported Constant Reported

currency currency currency
Occupancy %
New York 89.2 80.8
Regional US 70.6 70.2
Total US 74.9 75.0
London 85.9 88.0
Rest of Eurcpe 72.7 75.5
Total Europe 78.6 811
Asia 76.2 73.8
Australasia 58.7 61.3
Total Group 74.1 74.3
Average Room Rate (£)
MNew York 148.29 129.76 142,73
Regional US 52.49 48.75 53.62
Total US 78.85 71.44 78.58
London 98.34 85.68 85.68
Rest of Eurcpe 75.03 72.58 73.12
Total Europe 86.33 78.89 7917
Asia 64.95 58.37 62.80
Australasia 40.65 40.12 36.44
Total Group 73.12 66.73 70.15
RevPAR (£)
New York 132.27 117.82 129.60
Regional US 37.06 34.22 37.64
Totat US 59.06 53.58 58.94
London 84.47 75.40 75.40
Rest of Eurcpe 54.55 54.80 55.21
Total Europe 67.86 63.98 64.21
Asia 49.4% 43.08 46.35
Australasia 23.86 24.59 22.34
Total Group 54.18 49.58 52.12
Gross Operating Profit Margin (%)
New York 43.5 39.9
Regional US . 28.9 28.3
Total US 35.9 33.7
London 51.3 46.7
Rest of Europe 30.4 29.4
Total Europe 40.7 37.4
Asia 44.4 3a.8
Australasia 32.3 35.5
Total Group 39.6 36.2

%4



For comparability the 30 June 2006 Average Room Rale and RevPAR have been translated at 30 June 2007 exchange rates.
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Misceflaneous

* Asterisks denote mandatory information

Name of Announcer * CITY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED
Company Registration No. 1963003162

Apnouncement submitted on behalf | CITY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED
0

Announcement is submitted with | CITY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED
respect to ¥

Announcement is submitted by * Enid Ling Peek Fong
Designation * Company Secretary

Date & Time of Broadcast 07-Aug-2007 17:16:43
Announcement No. 00075

>> Announcement Details
The details of the announcement start here ...

Announcement Title * | Announcement by Subsidiary Company, Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc on Board Change

Description Please see the attached announcement released by Millennium & Copthome Hotels plc on 7
August 2007,
Attachments: & Board_Change.pdf

Total size = 15K
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7 August 2007
Miltennium & Copthorne Hotels plc
Board Change

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc {("M&C") today announces that Peter
Papadimitropoulos, Group Chief Executive has left the company by mutual consent
with immediate effect.

The search to appoint a new Chief Executive is underway and will be led by the

Nominations Committee. in the meantime, Wong Hong Ren, an Executive Director of
M&C, will act as Interim Group Chief Executive.

For further information please contact:
Wong Hong Ren, Interim Group Chief Executive  +44 (0) 207 872 2444
Rohin Lee, Senior Vice President Finance

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels pic

Ben Foster/Charlie Watenphul +44 (D) 207 831 3113
Financial Dynamics

END




